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Statement of responsibility by the board of directors
for the year ended 30 June 2014

the directors are responsible for the preparation and integrity of 

the annual financial statements and related financial information 

that fairly present the state of affairs and the results of 

Sun International Limited and that of the Group. the directors 

also have oversight for the information included in this Integrated 

Annual Report and are responsible for both its accuracy and its 

consistency with the annual financial statements.

the annual financial statements as these appear on the 

Company’s website have been prepared in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the 

manner required by the Companies Act No 71 of 2008 together 

with the JSe Listings Requirements. these are based on 

appropriate accounting policies, which have been consistently 

applied and which are supported by reasonable and prudent 

judgements and estimates and fairly present the state of affairs 

of the Group as at 30 June 2014.

the directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible 

for the process of risk management and the system of internal 

financial controls established by the Group and accordingly place 

considerable importance on maintaining a strong control 

environment.

the directors are of the opinion, based on the information and 

explanations given by management, the internal auditors, 

external auditors and the Group's various risk, governance, 

compliance and other reporting processes, that the risk 

management processes and the system of internal controls 

provide reasonable assurance in all key material aspects that the 

financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 

financial statements. However, any system of internal financial 

controls can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance 

against material misstatement or loss.

Following due consideration of the operating budgets, an 

assessment of the Group’s debt covenants and funding 

requirements, solvency and liquidity assessments, the major 

risks, outstanding legal, insurance and taxation issues, and other 

pertinent matters presented by management, the directors are 

of the view that the Company and the Group have adequate 

resources and the ability to continue operations for the 

foreseeable future. For these reasons, the financial statements 

have been prepared on a going concern basis.

the financial statements have been audited by the Group’s 

independent external auditors, pricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., 

who have been given unrestricted access to all financial records 

and related information including the minutes of shareholder, 

board and board committee meetings. pricewaterhouseCoopers 

Inc.'s unmodified audit report can be accessed online.

DIreCtorS’ aPProVal

the annual financial statements which were prepared under the 

supervision of the chief financial officer, Mr AM Leeming, and 

which appears online were approved by the board of directors 

on 16 october 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

MV Moosa GE Stephens
Chairman Chief executive

AM Leeming
Chief Financial officer

16 october 2014

Company Secretary’s certificate

to tHe MeMBeRS oF SUN INteRNAtIoNAL LIMIteD

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the Company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual property 

Commission, all such returns required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended, in respect of 

the financial year ended 30 June 2014 and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

CA Reddiar
Company Secretary

16 october 2014



Report of the directors

annual fInanCIal StatementS CoNtINUeD

to tHe SHareHolDerS of Sun 
InternatIonal lImIteD
the directors have pleasure in submitting the annual financial 

statements of the Sun International Group for the year ended 

30 June 2014.

nature of BuSIneSS
the Sun International Group has interests in, and provides 

management services to businesses in the hotel, resort and 

casino industry. there has not been any material changes in the 

nature of the Group’s business from the prior year.

earnInGS
the results of the Company and the Group as contained in 

the statements of comprehensive income and segmental 
information have been provided for review in the accompanying 

statements.

DIVIDenDS
Dividends totalling 245 cents (gross) per share (2013: 265 cents gross) 

have been declared by the directors in respect of the year under 

review as follows:

Interim: declared, 24 February 2014: 90 cents 

 (76.50 cents after dividends tax)

final: declared, 25 August 2014: 155 cents 

 (131.75 cents after dividends tax)

the final dividend referred to above will be accounted for in the 

2015 annual financial statements as it was declared subsequent 

to the year end.

reVIeW of oPeratIonS anD 
future DeVeloPmentS
Detailed commentary on the nature of business of the Company 

and its subsidiaries, acquisitions, future developments and prospects 

of the Group are addressed within the integrated annual report.

SHare CaPItal
the total issued share capital of the Company constitutes 

114 129 455 ordinary shares and an authorised share capital of 

150 000 000 ordinary shares. the company holds 10 149 477 

treasury shares in a wholly owned subsidiary.

the following ordinary shares in the unissued share capital of the 

Company remain under the control of the directors as a specific 

authority to allot and issue as follows:

❖❖ 1 875 517 ordinary shares for purposes of the share option 

scheme;

❖❖ 10 780 000 ordinary shares for purposes of the share plans;

❖❖ all ordinary authorised but unissued shares, pursuant to the 

transaction as approved by shareholders in 2014 and which 

entails a 14.9% disposal in SunWest International (pty) Ltd 

and Worcester Casino (pty) Ltd. In terms of this transaction, a 

change of control is triggered when either an offeror acquiring 

all or the greater part of the assets or undertaking of the 

Company, or the acquisition of 35% or more of the issued 

ordinary shares of the Company, excluding treasury shares, or 

an offer or a scheme of arrangement or any other transaction 

or arrangement to be proposed, which will then result in all of 

the ordinary authorised but unissued shares, being placed 

under the control of directors.

Details of the authorised and issued share capital appear as a 

note to the Group’s financial statements. the details of the 

Company’s public and non-public shareholders have been 

made available for perusal.

SHare oPtIonS anD SHare PlanS
particulars relating to options under the share option scheme 

(discontinued in 2006) and awards under the share plans are 

provided as a note to the Group financial statements.

SuBSIDIarIeS
particulars relating to interests in principal subsidiaries are set 

out in detail for review.

BorroWInG CaPaCItY
the Company’s borrowings are not restricted in terms of its 

Memorandum of Incorporation. the Group’s debt covenants 
and debt capacity are available for review.

DIreCtorS anD ComPanY 
SeCretarY
the names of the directors and company secretary in office 

at the date of this report are available for review together with 

the company secretary’s business and postal address. During 

the year under the review, the following movement in directorate 

was noted.

name of 
Director

nature of
change

Date of 
change

Mr e Cibie Appointed 22 August 2014

In terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, 

Ms B Modise, Messrs MV Moosa and GR Rosenthal are required 

to retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting 

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 

Mr e Cibie, who was appointed to the board subsequent to 

the last annual general meeting, is required in terms of the 

Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, to retire from office 

at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible is 

available for election to the board.
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As at 30 June 2014, the directors of the Company beneficially held, directly or indirectly, 1 264 668 ordinary shares in the issued capital 

of the Company, as follows:

 

 Direct Indirect 2014 2013

NN Gwagwa*  – 266 102 266 102 266 102
AM Leeming  103 982  – 103 982  89 360
IN Matthews  2 723  –  2 723  2 723
KH Mazwai  91 398  –  91 398  87 824
MV Moosa*  – 598 731 598 731  598 731
Ge Stephens  201 732 – 201 732  173 374

  399 835 864 833 1 264 668 1 218 114

* Held indirectly through Lereko Investments (Pty) Ltd and Dinokana (Pty) Ltd

the following changes in directors’ beneficial shareholdings have taken place subsequent to the financial year end and as at date of 

this report:

orDInarY SHareS aCquIreD

Ge Stephens 68 719
AM Leeming 22 562
KH Mazwai 14 722

total 106 003

HolDInG ComPanY
the Company has no holding or ultimate holding company.

SPeCIal reSolutIonS PaSSeD BY tHe ComPanY

the Company passed three special resolutions at its annual general meeting held on 22 November 2013 relating to:

❖❖ the approval of financial assistance in terms of Section 44 of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008

❖❖ the approval of financial assistance in terms of S45 of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008

❖❖ a general authority to repurchase shares

SuBSequent eVentS

the material events that have occurred between 30 June 2014 and to the date of this report have been provided as a note to the 

Group’s financial statements.
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Report of the audit committee

the audit committee is pleased to present this report to shareholders as required by the Companies Act no. 71 of 2008 (“the Companies 

Act”) and as recommended by King III.

Mr GR Rosenthal
(Committee Chairman)

Ms ZBM Bassa Mr PL Campher Ms B Modise

Independent non-executive 
director

Independent non-executive 
director

Independent non-executive 
director

Independent non-executive 
director

Meeting attendance: 5/5 Meeting attendance: 5/5 Meeting attendance: 5/5 Meeting attendance: 4/5

the committee is satisfied that it has considered and discharged 

its responsibilities in accordance with its mandate and terms of 

reference during the year under review as set out in this report. 

this was further supported by the committee’s most recent 

evaluation conducted in 2014 and the board’s assessment of the 

committee’s effectiveness in fulfilling its mandate.

the committee is assisted in its functions through the Group’s 

Internal Audit as well as the external auditors as set out below.

GrouP Internal auDIt
Group Internal Audit (“GIA”) provides management and the 

committee with independent evaluations and examinations of the 

Group’s activities and resultant business risks. the head of GIA 

has unfettered access to the committee Chairman and meets 

with the Chairman independently of management several times 

during the year.

GIA provides the committee with assurances relating to the 

effectiveness of risk management across the Group and on the 

Group’s internal financial controls.

 the purpose, authority and responsibilities of GIA are formally 

defined in an internal audit charter which is reviewed by the 

committee and approved by the board. this review takes place 

annually, with the charter revised as necessary.

GIA is designed to maintain an appropriate degree of 

independence from management to render impartial and 

unbiased judgements in performing its services. the scope of 

GIA’s functions include: 

IntroDuCtIon
the audit committee (“the committee”) members as nominated 

by the board and appointed by shareholders in respect of the 

financial year ended 30 June 2014, each have the requisite 

financial skills and experience to contribute to the committee’s 

deliberations.

During the period under review and following the assessment of 

the effectiveness of the committee as conducted by the 

nomination committee, the members of the committee were 

nominated by the board for re-election to the committee in the 

forthcoming financial year. the members have availed themselves 

for re-election by shareholders at the 2014 annual general 

meeting.

the committee meetings are also attended by the Chief 

executive, Chief Financial officer, Director: Group Internal Audit, 

the Group’s financial manager, Group’s tax manager and 

external auditors, who attend the committee meetings by 

invitation. Additional members of management are required to 

be present at such meetings at the instance of the committee. 

the committee Chairman is also a member of the risk and social 

and ethics committees, and attends these meetings to ensure 

that the committee is kept apprised of matters canvassed given 

the overlap of matters. the committee chairman then provides 

feedback to the committee on the relevant matters. 

manDate
the committee’s board approved mandate and terms of 
reference include its statutory duties as detailed in the 

Companies Act, and is supplemented with the duties assigned 

to the committee by the board.
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❖❖ performing independent evaluations of the adequacy and 

effectiveness of Group companies' controls, financial reporting 

mechanisms and records, information systems and operations

❖❖ Reporting on the adequacy of these controls

❖❖ providing additional assurance regarding the safeguarding of 

assets and financial information.

GIA is also responsible for monitoring and evaluating operating 

procedures and processes through, inter alia, gaming compliance, 

the Responsible Gambling programme compliance, operational 

health and safety, and environmental audits. Risk assessment is 

coordinated with the board's assessment of risk through 

interaction between GIA and the audit and risk committees so 

as to minimise duplication of effort. the director of GIA reports 

at all audit and risk committee meetings and has unrestricted 

access to the chairmen of these committees. the appointment 

or dismissal of the GIA director is done with agreement of the 

committee.

the committee further assesses the effectiveness and competency 

of the GIA director. In the year under review, the committee has 

considered and satisfied itself on the appropriateness of the 

expertise of Mr CS Benjamin as the head of GIA and confirmed 

that he has executed his duties competently with the relevant 

skill and expertise.

the committee approved GIA’s annual audit plan for the 

2014/2015 financial year which sets out the number and nature 

of internal audits planned for the year. GIA provides services 

across all Group operations and conducts a myriad of internal 

audits during the year. Any weaknesses that are identified are 

brought to the attention of the committee, with GIA providing 

executive management’s comments and remedial actions 

implemented if so required.

In accordance with the requirements of the Institute of Internal 

Auditors, GIA has undergone an independent quality assurance 

review on its effectiveness this year, with the last completed 

independent review having being conducted during 2011. the 

results of the review indicated that GIA “generally conforms” to 

the International Standards for the professional practice of 

Internal Auditing.

eXternal auDIt
the external auditors provide the committee with their independent 

observations and findings on the Group’s internal controls, and 

make recommendations on improving financial reporting. the 

Group’s external auditors are pricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

the external auditors’ audit approach is risk-based, requiring 

them to continually identify and assess risks throughout the 

audit process. the external auditors are directed by operating 

procedures and place emphasis on understanding how management 

obtains the assurance that the business is generating reliable 

information, and then evaluate and validate the basis of this 

assurance. this approach aligns the methodology closely with 

the organisational structures and risk management processes.

there is close cooperation between internal and external audit 

and reliance is placed, where possible, on the work of GIA, 

therefore minimising duplication of effort. the annual external 

audit plan, together with the associated audit fee, are reviewed 

and approved by the committee. the external auditors attend all 

shareholder meetings of the Company and are re-elected by 

shareholders annually at the AGM.

eXPertISe anD eXPerIenCe of tHe 
CHIef fInanCIal offICer anD tHe 
fInanCe funCtIon
the committee considered and satisfied itself on the appropriateness 

of the expertise and experience of the Chief Financial officer,  

Mr AM Leeming, and his abridged résumé details his experience.

Having conducted a review of the appropriateness, skills and 

adequacy of resourcing of the Group’s finance function, the 

committee has satisfied itself on the overall adequacy, resourcing 

and appropriateness of the finance function.

Internal fInanCIal ControlS
the board of directors is responsible for the Group’s systems of 

internal financial controls. these systems are designed to provide 

reasonable but not absolute assurance as to the integrity and 

reliability of the financial statements. the systems also safeguard, 

verify and maintain accountability of Group assets, as well as to 

detect and minimise significant fraud, potential liability, loss and 

material misstatement while complying with applicable laws and 

regulations. the board has tasked the committee to oversee the 

testing of the Group’s internal financial controls.

the committee confirms that GIA has adequately tested the 

Group’s internal financial controls to provide the board with 

positive assurance on the key areas of the Group’s internal 

financial controls. 

the committee is of the opinion having received the written 

assurance provided by GIA that the Group’s systems of internal 

financial controls in all key material aspects is effective and 

provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be 

relied upon for the preparation of the annual financial statements.

Internal ControlS
the controls throughout the Group concentrate on all risk areas 

with an emphasis on critical risk areas in the casino and hotel 

control environments. these risk areas are closely monitored and 

subjected to GIA reviews. Furthermore, assessments of the 

information technology environments are also performed. 

Continual review and reporting structures enhance the control 

environments.

GIA is of the opinion that the control environment of the Group 

is adequate and effective in meeting the risks to which the 

Group is exposed.
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StatutorY DutIeS
the committee is satisfied that in respect of the 2014 financial 

year it has performed all the functions required by law to be 

performed by the committee, including those requirements as 

set out in section 94(7) of the Companies Act and the JSe 

Listings Requirements. In this regard the committee has:

❖❖ evaluated the independence and effectiveness of the external 
auditors, pricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., and is satisfied that 
the external auditors are effective and remain independent of 
the Group, having given due consideration to the parameters 
enumerated under section 94(8) of the Companies Act. the 
committee, having conducted the relevant assessments, 
accordingly nominates pricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as 
independent auditors to continue in office until the conclusion 
of the 2015 annual general meeting. Mr eR MacKeown is 
appointed as the individual registered auditor and member of 
the aforementioned firm who will undertake the audit

❖❖ Considered and approved the budgeted and actual audit fees 
payable to the external auditors in respect of the audit for 
the year ended 30 June 2014 together with their terms of 
engagement, taking into consideration factors such as the 
timing of the audit, the extent of work required and the scope 
of the audit

❖❖ ensured and satisfied itself that the appointment of the 
external auditors, the designated auditor and IFRS advisor 
(pricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.) are in compliance with the 
Companies Act, the Auditing profession Act 2005, and the JSe 
Listings Requirements

❖❖ Considered and pre-approved non-audit services provided by 
the external auditors and fees relative thereto in terms of its 
existing policy. this policy provides that the nature and extent 
of all non-audit services provided by the external auditors 
are reviewed and approved in advance, ensuring that the 
independence of the external auditors is not compromised. 
the non-audit services policy and pre-approval authorisation 
process was reviewed during the year and the committee 
concluded that the processes outlined in the policy remains 
current and relevant

❖❖ Confirmed that no reportable irregularities were identified and 
reported by the external auditors in terms of the Auditing 
profession Act 26 of 2005

❖❖ performed the committee’s functions for identified subsidiaries 
within the Group as contemplated by section 94(7) of the 
Companies Act

to ensure that all relevant matters are thoroughly and frankly 

canvassed, the committee meets independently with management, 

GIA and the external auditors. the committee satisfies itself of 

the cooperation between the internal and external auditors and 

serves as a link between the board of directors and the internal 

and external audit functions.

the committee did not receive any complaints relating to the 

accounting practices; internal audit; the content or auditing of 

the Group’s financial statements; the internal financial controls 

of the Group; or any related matters.

ComBIneD aSSuranCe
the committee has reviewed the Group’s combined assurance 

model, which provides an additional mechanism that assists the 

Group in understanding and demonstrating its combined lines 

of defence in mitigating against areas of risk. the combined 

assurance model, as depicted below, is structured around the 

top 20 key risks relevant to the Group. It has been robustly 

evaluated by management, the risk committee and the 

committee during the year, thereby providing the committee 

with the relevant assurance in this regard.

Internal assurance is provided by our internal audit department.

1

2 3

management

external  
assurance  
provider

Internal 
assurance 
provider

Combined
assurance

model

Combined assurance

Risk affecting the Company

our external assurance providers include 
pricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. (pwC), Integrated Reporting and 

Assurance Services (IRAS) and Marsh, amongst others.

SuStaInaBIlItY rePortInG
the committee fulfils an oversight role regarding the Group’s 
Integrated Annual Report and its reporting processes.

the committee has reviewed the findings of the external 
assurance provider, IRAS, emanating from the performance of 
an independent assurance exercise on the sustainability content 
of this Integrated Annual Report. IRAS undertakes its review in 
part by visiting the Group’s different properties and testing the 
reported information against the actual operations.

the committee is satisfied with the findings of the independent 
assurance exercise. In addition, it has reviewed the sustainability 
information set out in the Integrated Annual Report and is satisfied 
that the sustainability information is reliable and consistent with 
the information contained in the annual financial statements.

reCommenDatIon of tHe 
InteGrateD annual rePort
the committee having fulfilled the oversight responsibility 
regarding the reporting process and having regard to material 
factors that may impact on the integrity of the information, has 
recommended the Integrated Annual Report and the consolidated 
annual financial statements for approval by the board of directors.

GR Rosenthal
Chairman

Sun International Limited audit committee

16 october 2014

annual fInanCIal StatementS REpORT Of ThE AudiT COmmiTTEE CoNtINUeD
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We have audited the consolidated and separate financial 

statements of Sun International Limited and its subsidiaries set 

out on pages 9 to 80, which comprise the statements of 

financial position as at 30 June 2014, and the statements of 

comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 

statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, 

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 

other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the 
financial statements
the Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and 

fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 

Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 

separate financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

auditor’s responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 

and separate financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 

on Auditing. those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and 

separate financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 

about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 

those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements 

present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 

separate financial position of Sun International Limited and its 

subsidiaries as at 30 June 2014, and its consolidated and 

separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate 

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 

of the Companies Act of South Africa.

other reports required by the 
Companies act
As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements for the year ended 30 June 2014, we have read the 

Directors’ Report, Audit Committee’s Report and the Company 

Secretary’s Certificate for the purpose of identifying whether 

there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the 

audited consolidated and separate financial statements. these 

reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based 

on reading these reports we have not identified material 

inconsistencies between these reports and the audited 

consolidated and separate financial statements. However, we 

have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express 

an opinion on these reports.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: eR Mackeown

Registered Auditor

Sunninghill

16 october 2014

independent auditor’s report to the shareholders 
of Sun international Limited and its subsidiaries

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., 2 Eglin Road, Sunninghill 2157, Private Bag X36, Sunninghill 2157, South Africa
T: +27 (11) 797 4000, F: +27 (11) 797 5800, www.pwc.co.za

Africa Senior partner: S p Kana 
Management Committee: H Boegman, t p Blandin de Chalain, B M Deegan, J G Louw, S N Madikane, p J Mothibe, t D Shango, S Subramoney, A R tilakdari, F tonelli 
the Company’s principal place of business is at 2 eglin Road, Sunninghill where a list of directors’ names is available for inspection. 
Reg. no 1998/012055/21, VAt reg no. 4950174682
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GRouP

r million 2014 2013 
%

change

CaSH GenerateD
Cash derived from revenue 10 811 10 223 
Income from investments 25  31 

Cash value generated 10 836 10 254  6 
paid to suppliers for materials and services (3 228) (3 016)

Total cash value added 7 608 7 238  5 

CaSH DIStrIButeD to StaKeHolDerS
employees (2 159) (1 918)  (13) 
Government taxes (2 838) (2 722)  (4)
Shareholders (525) (534) 2
Lenders (532) (459) (16) 

(6 054) (5 633)  (7) 

Cash retained in the business to fund replacement of assets, 
facilitate future growth and repay borrowings 1 554 1 605  (3) 

reConCIlIatIon WItH CaSH GeneratIon
total cash value added (above) 7 608 7 238 
 employee remuneration (2 159) (1 902)
 employee tax (332) (308)
 Income from investments (25) (31)
 Levies and VAt on casino revenue (2 003) (1 917)

Cash generated by operations (per Group cash flow statements) 3 089 3 080  –

GoVernment taXeS SummarY
Income tax (481) (471)
pAYe (332) (308)
Levies and VAt on casino revenue (2 003) (1 917)
other taxes (22) (26)

(2 838) (2 722)  (4)

Value added statement
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Group statements of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June

r million Notes
2014 2013

Restated

Revenue  10 825  10 267 

Casino  8 469  8 195 
Rooms  1 114  957 
Food, beverage and other revenue  1 242  1 115 

Consumables and services (1 205) (1 130)
Depreciation and amortisation 2 (958) (851)
employee costs 3 (2 544) (2 272)
Levies and VAt on casino revenue (2 003) (1 917)
promotional and marketing costs (718) (717)
property and equipment rentals (148) (128)
property costs (580) (541)
other operational costs (990) (831)

operating profit 4 1 679 1 880 
Foreign exchange profits  12  57 
Interest income 5  25  31 
Interest expense 6 (550) (505)

Profit before tax 1 166 1 463 
tax 7 (417) (473)

Profit for the year 749 990 
other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
 Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations 15, 22 17 16
 tax on remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations (5) (4)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
 Net profit on cash flow hedges 1 3
 tax on net profit on cash flow hedges – (1)
 transfer of hedging reserve to statements of comprehensive income 4 2
 tax on transfer of hedging reserve to statements of comprehensive income (1) –
 Currency translation reserve (45) 550

Total comprehensive income for the year  720  1 556 

Profit for the year attributable to:
 Minorities  231  293 
 ordinary shareholders  518  697 

 749  990 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
 Minorities  221  592 
 ordinary shareholders  499  964 

 720  1 556 

Earnings per share
Basic (cents per share) 9  555  753 
Basic diluted (cents per share) 9  553  749
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Group statements of financial position
as at 30 June

r million Notes
2014

 
2013 

Restated 
2012 

Restated 

aSSetS
Non current assets
property, plant and equipment 11 11 380 10 594 9 595
Intangible assets 12  721  494  479
Available-for-sale investment 13  48  48  48
Loans and receivables 14  10  13  23
pension fund asset 15  45  29  38
Deferred tax 20  249  214  148

12 453 11 392 10 331

Current assets
Loans and receivables 14  4  52  38
Inventory 16  97  81  70
Accounts receivable 17  517  476  473
tax  42  41  57
Cash and cash equivalents 25.9  958 1 024  753

1 618 1 674 1 391

Total assets 14 071 13 066 11 722

equItY anD lIaBIlItIeS
Capital and reserves
ordinary shareholders’ equity 1 497 2 033 1 309
Minorities’ interests  491 1 632 1 176

1 988 3 665 2 485

Non current liabilities
Deferred tax 20  460  501  423
Borrowings 21 3 772 3 753 4 496
other non current liabilities 22 2 316  440  506

6 548 4 694 5 425

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 23 1 516 1 424 1 246
provisions 24  130  48  43
Borrowings 21 3 810 3 166 2 422
tax  79  69  101

5 535 4 707 3 812

Total liabilities 12 083 9 401 9 237

Total equity and liabilities 14 071 13 066 11 722
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r million Notes
2014 2013

Restated
2012

Restated

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers  10 811  10 223 9 742
Cash paid to suppliers, government and employees (7 722) (7 143) (7 008)

Cash generated by operations 25.1  3 089  3 080 2 734
tax paid 25.2 (494) (498) (531)

Cash generated by operating activities  2 595  2 582 2 203
Settlement of long service award obligation (40) (120) –

Net cash inflow from operating activities  2 555  2 462 2 203

Cash flows from investing activities 
purchase of property, plant and equipment
 expansion (672) (557) (586)
 Replacement (1 212) (711) (514)
purchase of intangible assets (210) (32) (60)
proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 61 13 4
Acquisition of subsidiary 25.3 (27) – –
Disposal of shares in subsidiaries 4 – –
Disposal of subsidiary 25.4 (10) – –
Investment income 25 31 37
other non current loans repaid/(raised) 22 31 (1)

Net cash outflow from investing activities (2 019) (1 225) (1 120)

Cash flows from financing activities
Minority share capital reduction (84) – –
purchase of shares in subsidiaries 25.5 (126) (73) (817)
Net increase/(decrease) in borrowings 25.6 633 (59) 589
Interest paid 25.7 (532) (478) (495)
Dividends paid 25.8 (489) (525) (506)
Deferred payment 48 – –
Increase in minority funding – 80  – 
Increase in share capital –  32  131 
purchase of treasury shares and share options (60) (8) (32)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (610) (1 031) (1 130)

effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 8 65 57

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (66) 271 10
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  1 024  753  743 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 25.9 958  1 024  753

Group statements of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June
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r million Notes

Share
capital

and
pre-

mium

treasury
shares

and
share

options

Foreign
currency

trans-
lation

reserve

Share
based

payment
reserve

Avail-
able
for

sale
invest-
ment

reserve

Reserve
for

non-
control-

ling
interests*

Hedging
reserve

Retained
earnings

ordinary
share-

holders’
equity

Minorities’
interests total

Balance at 30 June 2012 
(as previously reported)  277 (1 600)  228  161  4 (2 206) (2) 4 634 1 496 1 227 2 723 
effect of changes in 
accounting policies – (187) – – – – – – (187) (51) (238)

Balance at 30 June 2012 
(restated)  277 (1 787)  228  161  4 (2 206) (2) 4 634 1 309 1 176 2 485 

Deemed treasury shares 
purchased 18 (3) (3) (3)
treasury share options 
purchased 18 (34) (34) (34)
treasury share options 
exercised 18 29 29 29
Shares issued 18 32 32 32
Vested share awards 18 14 (14) – –
employee share based 
payments 32 46 46 46
Release of share based 
payment reserve (32) 32 – –
Release of SFIR equity 
option reserve (75) 33  (42) 42 –
Delivery of share awards (11) (11) (11)
Acquisition of minorities’ 
interests 34 (13) 8 (5) 95 90
profit for the year  697 697 293 990
other comprehensive 
income  254  3 10 267 299 566
Dividends paid (252) (252) (273) (525)

Balance at 30 June 2013 
(restated)  309 (1 781)  482  86  4 (2 219)  1 5 151 2 033 1 632 3 665 

Deemed treasury shares 
purchased 18 (41) (41) (41)
treasury share options 
purchased 18 (29) (29) (29)
Deemed treasury shares 
disposed 18  9 9 9
Vested share awards 18 13 (13) – –
employee share based 
payments 32 53 53 53
Release of share based 
payment reserve (14) 14 – –
Monticello acquisition 
consideration (673)  (673) (1 014) (1 687)
Minority share capital 
reduction – (84) (84)
Delivery of share awards (7) (7) (7)
Acquisition of minorities’ 
interests 34 (107) (107) (15) (122)
profit for the year  518  518 231  749 
other comprehensive 
income (33)  2  12 (19) (10) (29)
Dividends paid (240) (240) (249) (489)

Balance at 30 June 2014  309 (1 829)  449  112  4 (2 999)  3 5 448 1 497  491 1 988 

*  Reserve for non-controlling interests relates to the premiums paid on purchases of minorities’ interests and profits and losses on disposals of interests 
to minorities.

Group statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June
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Revenue  eBItDA eBItDAM
Depreciation and 

amortisation
operating profit and 

segment results Net Interest paid Minorities interest tax
Adjusted headline 

earnings#

r million 2014 2013  2014  2013 2014 2013  2014  2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

1. SeGmental analYSIS
South African operations 8 266 7 788  2 334  2 201 2 816 2 687  664  581 1 562 1 568  243  213  222  224  385  386  914  967 

GrandWest 2 020 1 866  833  788  934  881  104  94  723  690  27  21  123  128  197  179 496  490 
Sun City 1 403 1 291  176  162  229  211  132  118  38  39 – – – – – – 38  39 
Sibaya  1 095  1 040  398  361  501  456  76  64  318  292  25  20  69  67  84  81 205  190 
Carnival City 1 042 1 061  312  315  376  403  81  73  217  231  40  32  5  7  49  61 123  139 
Boardwalk  554  496  168  142  208  176  79  70  87  71  51  35  4  3  3  2 31  29 
Wild Coast Sun  400  389  70  65  93  87  47  40  22  24  26  28  (3)  (4)  (3)  6 (4) (10)
Carousel  311  322  56  64  70  79  30  25  24  37 –  1 – – – – 24  37 
Meropa  278  292  106  114  133  143  19  17  86  96  8  7  15  19  22  26 55  64 
Windmill  257  255  96  93  119  116  17  15  77  77  6  6  13  14  19  20 50  51 
table Bay  233  181  50  22  62  31  12  11  23  2  47  48  (6)  (12) – – (24) (46)
Morula  208  230  16  26  23  35  17  16 (2) 10 –  1 – – – – (1)  10 
Flamingo  152  152  49  44  59  56  11  11  37  33  4  5  5  5  9  8 23  20 
Golden Valley  144  128  27  28  35  35  13  14  13  14  9  9 – –  3  3 1  2 
Maslow  113  41 6 (6)  6 (5)  23  11 (70) (29) – – – – – – (70) (29)
other operating segments  56  44 (29) (17) (32) (17)  3  2 (31) (19) – –  (3)  (3)  2 – (33) (19)

other African operations 1 071  948  195  173  242  223  108  87  68  68  27  26 (17) 11 25 18  22  28 

Zambia  222 182  52  41  65  52  22  18  30  23 – – – –  9  32 26 (6)
Federal palace  216 198  28  40  30  52  49  32 (21)  8  27  23  (25)  4  (1)  (21) (46) 8
Botswana  186 178  44  50  53  59  9  8  31  39 (3) (2)  5  6  8  9 26 28
Swaziland  172 161  13  8  19  14  5  6  8  2  2  2  2  1  2  (1) 4 2
Kalahari Sands  148 111  39  18  49  24  10  10  15 (6) –  1 – –  5  (2) 10 (4)
Lesotho  127 118  19  16  26  22  13  13  5  2  1  2  1 –  2  1 2 –

Latam operation 1 443 1 498  303  318  377  395  166  159  126 149  55  116  44  35 (40) (21) 99 60

Monticello 1 443 1 498  303  318  377  395  166  159  126 149  55  116  44  35 (40) (21) 99 60

Management activities 612 610  248  245  248  245  19  22  216  197  23 –  12  18  36  66  120  119 

Total operating segments 11 392 10 844  3 080  2 937 3 683 3 550  957  849 1 972 1 982  348  355  261  288  406  449 1 155 1 174 
other (567) (577) (28) (17) (595) (594)  1  2 (293) (102)  177  119  (30)  5  11  24 (169) (99)

Central office and other (28) (17) (28) (17)  1  2 (26) (17)  177  119  (30)  5  11  24 (169) (99)
elimination of intragroup (567) (577) (567) (577)
other income – 21
other expenses (267) (106)

Total 10 825 10 267  3 052  2 920 3 088 2 956  958  851 1 679 1 880  525  474  231  293  417  473  986 1 075 

other
Net interest expense and foreign 
exchange profits (513) (417)
Management fees paid to 
minorities (36) (36)
tax (417) (473)
Minorities’ interests (231) (293) (303) (345)

10 825 10 267  3 052  2 920  3 052  2 920  958  851  518  697  525  474  231  293  417  473  683  730 

#  Adjusted headline earnings include adjustments made for certain items of income or expense. These adjustments include pre-opening expenses 
and material items considered to be outside the normal operating activities of the Group and/or of a non-recurring nature.

  EBITDA: Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. EBITDA is stated before property and equipment rentals and items 
adjusted for adjusted headline earnings. Property and equipment rentals are considered to be a form of funding and are therefore categorised 
after EBITDA with depreciation and interest.

  EBITDAM: EBITDA before management fees.

Notes to the Group financial statements
for the year ended 30 June
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Revenue  eBItDA eBItDAM
Depreciation and 

amortisation
operating profit and 

segment results Net Interest paid Minorities interest tax
Adjusted headline 

earnings#

r million 2014 2013  2014  2013 2014 2013  2014  2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

1. SeGmental analYSIS
South African operations 8 266 7 788  2 334  2 201 2 816 2 687  664  581 1 562 1 568  243  213  222  224  385  386  914  967 

GrandWest 2 020 1 866  833  788  934  881  104  94  723  690  27  21  123  128  197  179 496  490 
Sun City 1 403 1 291  176  162  229  211  132  118  38  39 – – – – – – 38  39 
Sibaya  1 095  1 040  398  361  501  456  76  64  318  292  25  20  69  67  84  81 205  190 
Carnival City 1 042 1 061  312  315  376  403  81  73  217  231  40  32  5  7  49  61 123  139 
Boardwalk  554  496  168  142  208  176  79  70  87  71  51  35  4  3  3  2 31  29 
Wild Coast Sun  400  389  70  65  93  87  47  40  22  24  26  28  (3)  (4)  (3)  6 (4) (10)
Carousel  311  322  56  64  70  79  30  25  24  37 –  1 – – – – 24  37 
Meropa  278  292  106  114  133  143  19  17  86  96  8  7  15  19  22  26 55  64 
Windmill  257  255  96  93  119  116  17  15  77  77  6  6  13  14  19  20 50  51 
table Bay  233  181  50  22  62  31  12  11  23  2  47  48  (6)  (12) – – (24) (46)
Morula  208  230  16  26  23  35  17  16 (2) 10 –  1 – – – – (1)  10 
Flamingo  152  152  49  44  59  56  11  11  37  33  4  5  5  5  9  8 23  20 
Golden Valley  144  128  27  28  35  35  13  14  13  14  9  9 – –  3  3 1  2 
Maslow  113  41 6 (6)  6 (5)  23  11 (70) (29) – – – – – – (70) (29)
other operating segments  56  44 (29) (17) (32) (17)  3  2 (31) (19) – –  (3)  (3)  2 – (33) (19)

other African operations 1 071  948  195  173  242  223  108  87  68  68  27  26 (17) 11 25 18  22  28 

Zambia  222 182  52  41  65  52  22  18  30  23 – – – –  9  32 26 (6)
Federal palace  216 198  28  40  30  52  49  32 (21)  8  27  23  (25)  4  (1)  (21) (46) 8
Botswana  186 178  44  50  53  59  9  8  31  39 (3) (2)  5  6  8  9 26 28
Swaziland  172 161  13  8  19  14  5  6  8  2  2  2  2  1  2  (1) 4 2
Kalahari Sands  148 111  39  18  49  24  10  10  15 (6) –  1 – –  5  (2) 10 (4)
Lesotho  127 118  19  16  26  22  13  13  5  2  1  2  1 –  2  1 2 –

Latam operation 1 443 1 498  303  318  377  395  166  159  126 149  55  116  44  35 (40) (21) 99 60

Monticello 1 443 1 498  303  318  377  395  166  159  126 149  55  116  44  35 (40) (21) 99 60

Management activities 612 610  248  245  248  245  19  22  216  197  23 –  12  18  36  66  120  119 

Total operating segments 11 392 10 844  3 080  2 937 3 683 3 550  957  849 1 972 1 982  348  355  261  288  406  449 1 155 1 174 
other (567) (577) (28) (17) (595) (594)  1  2 (293) (102)  177  119  (30)  5  11  24 (169) (99)

Central office and other (28) (17) (28) (17)  1  2 (26) (17)  177  119  (30)  5  11  24 (169) (99)
elimination of intragroup (567) (577) (567) (577)
other income – 21
other expenses (267) (106)

Total 10 825 10 267  3 052  2 920 3 088 2 956  958  851 1 679 1 880  525  474  231  293  417  473  986 1 075 

other
Net interest expense and foreign 
exchange profits (513) (417)
Management fees paid to 
minorities (36) (36)
tax (417) (473)
Minorities’ interests (231) (293) (303) (345)

10 825 10 267  3 052  2 920  3 052  2 920  958  851  518  697  525  474  231  293  417  473  683  730 

#  Adjusted headline earnings include adjustments made for certain items of income or expense. These adjustments include pre-opening expenses 
and material items considered to be outside the normal operating activities of the Group and/or of a non-recurring nature.

  EBITDA: Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. EBITDA is stated before property and equipment rentals and items 
adjusted for adjusted headline earnings. Property and equipment rentals are considered to be a form of funding and are therefore categorised 
after EBITDA with depreciation and interest.

  EBITDAM: EBITDA before management fees.
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Casino tables Slots Rooms Food & Beverage other total

r million 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

1. SeGmental reVenue analYSIS continued
South African operations 6 738 6 457  965  879 5 773 5 578  764  652  400  336  364  343 8 266 7 788 

GrandWest 1 991 1 834  251 226  1 740 1 608  2 1 – –  27 31 2 020 1 866 
Sun City  519  446  120 83  399  363  434 430  228  210  222 205 1 403 1 291 
Sibaya 1 070 1 011  224 206  846  805  11 12 5 7  9 10 1 095 1 040 
Carnival City 1 014 1 031  160 163  854  868  3 3 – –  25 27 1 042 1 061 
Boardwalk  512  476  50 41  462  435  29 10 – –  13 10 554  496 
Wild Coast Sun  304  294  35 35  269  259  29 24 40 37  27 34 400  389 
Carousel  297  311  26 27  271  284  5 4 – –  9 7 311  322 
Meropa  275  289  27 31  248  258 – – – –  3 3 278  292 
Windmill  257  254  39 33  218  221 – – – – – 1 257  255 
table Bay – – – – – –  174 133  50 42  9 6 233  181 
Morula  196  215  15 16  181  199  2 3 8 9  2 3 208  230 
Flamingo  150  150  11 11  139  139 – – – –  2 2 152  152 
Golden Valley  132  125  7 7  125  118  3 2  8 –  1  1 144  128 
Maslow – – – – – –  63 20  50 20 – 1 113  41 
other operating segments  21  21 – –  21  21  9 10  11 11  15 2  56  44 

other African operations  428  385  90  78  338  307  342  303  254  219  47  41 1 071  948 

Zambia – – – – – – 119 102  80 60  23 20 222  182 
Federal palace 94 80 24 18 70 62  76 69  41 44  5 5 216  198 
Botswana 109 103 16 15 93 88 46 44  27 29  4 2 186  178 
Swaziland 80 80 20 22 60 58 39 36 48 39  5 6 172  161 
Kalahari Sands 99 75 18 11 81 64 27 21 19 14  3  1 148  111 
Lesotho 46 47 12 12 34 35 35 31 39 33  7 7 127  118 

Latam operation 1 303 1 353 349 369 954 984 8 2 102 103 30 40 1 443 1 498 

Monticello 1 303 1 353 349 369 954 984 8 2 102 103 30 40 1 443 1 498 

Management activities – – – – – – 612 610 612  610 

Total operating segments 8 469 8 195 1 404 1 326 7 065 6 869 1 114  957  756  658 1 053 1 034 11 392 10 844 

other – – – – – – – – – – (567) (577) (567) (577)

elimination of intragroup – – – – – – – – – – (567) (577) (567) (577)

Total 8 469 8 195 1 404 1 326 7 065 6 869 1 114  957  756  658  486  457 10 825 10 267 

GrouP fInanCIal StatementS NOTES TO ThE GROup fiNANCiAL STATEmENTS CoNtINUeD
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Casino tables Slots Rooms Food & Beverage other total

r million 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

1. SeGmental reVenue analYSIS continued
South African operations 6 738 6 457  965  879 5 773 5 578  764  652  400  336  364  343 8 266 7 788 

GrandWest 1 991 1 834  251 226  1 740 1 608  2 1 – –  27 31 2 020 1 866 
Sun City  519  446  120 83  399  363  434 430  228  210  222 205 1 403 1 291 
Sibaya 1 070 1 011  224 206  846  805  11 12 5 7  9 10 1 095 1 040 
Carnival City 1 014 1 031  160 163  854  868  3 3 – –  25 27 1 042 1 061 
Boardwalk  512  476  50 41  462  435  29 10 – –  13 10 554  496 
Wild Coast Sun  304  294  35 35  269  259  29 24 40 37  27 34 400  389 
Carousel  297  311  26 27  271  284  5 4 – –  9 7 311  322 
Meropa  275  289  27 31  248  258 – – – –  3 3 278  292 
Windmill  257  254  39 33  218  221 – – – – – 1 257  255 
table Bay – – – – – –  174 133  50 42  9 6 233  181 
Morula  196  215  15 16  181  199  2 3 8 9  2 3 208  230 
Flamingo  150  150  11 11  139  139 – – – –  2 2 152  152 
Golden Valley  132  125  7 7  125  118  3 2  8 –  1  1 144  128 
Maslow – – – – – –  63 20  50 20 – 1 113  41 
other operating segments  21  21 – –  21  21  9 10  11 11  15 2  56  44 

other African operations  428  385  90  78  338  307  342  303  254  219  47  41 1 071  948 

Zambia – – – – – – 119 102  80 60  23 20 222  182 
Federal palace 94 80 24 18 70 62  76 69  41 44  5 5 216  198 
Botswana 109 103 16 15 93 88 46 44  27 29  4 2 186  178 
Swaziland 80 80 20 22 60 58 39 36 48 39  5 6 172  161 
Kalahari Sands 99 75 18 11 81 64 27 21 19 14  3  1 148  111 
Lesotho 46 47 12 12 34 35 35 31 39 33  7 7 127  118 

Latam operation 1 303 1 353 349 369 954 984 8 2 102 103 30 40 1 443 1 498 

Monticello 1 303 1 353 349 369 954 984 8 2 102 103 30 40 1 443 1 498 

Management activities – – – – – – 612 610 612  610 

Total operating segments 8 469 8 195 1 404 1 326 7 065 6 869 1 114  957  756  658 1 053 1 034 11 392 10 844 

other – – – – – – – – – – (567) (577) (567) (577)

elimination of intragroup – – – – – – – – – – (567) (577) (567) (577)

Total 8 469 8 195 1 404 1 326 7 065 6 869 1 114  957  756  658  486  457 10 825 10 267 
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Assets Borrowings Liabilities Capital expenditure

r million 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

1. SeGmental analYSIS 
continued
South African operations 7 539 7 326 3 160 3 113 1 570 1 215 1 087 1 122 

GrandWest 1 295 1 164  430  380  201  177  263  68 
Sun City 1 705 1 583 – –  403  303  361  152 
Sibaya  749  713  357  318  112  136  109  61 
Carnival City  662  673  575  539  116  207  71  130 
Boardwalk 1 093 1 116  657  708  92  69  59  312 
Wild Coast Sun  538  547  337  343  111  96  48  31 
Carousel  313  349 – –  47  62  12  57 
Meropa  173  160  118  118  22  31  21  16 
Windmill  197  239  98  162  44  26  37  14 
table Bay  121  102  391  344  34  31  28  12 
Morula  116  126 – –  45  37  14  33 
Flamingo  103  89  69  66  24  15  27  7 
Golden Valley  187  179  128  135  28  17  26  8 
Maslow  203  259 – –  231  8  6  217 
other operating segments  84  27 – –  60 –  5  4 

other African operations 1 569 1 602  380  354  257  278  75  53 

Zambia  403  443 – –  33  38  24  26 
Federal palace  717  715  362  324  84  96  22  9 
Botswana  152  146 –  2  22  25  9  5 
Swaziland  63  69  16  23  31  33  3  2 
Kalahari Sands  128  122 –  1  59  57  10  6 
Lesotho  106  107  2  4  28  29  7  5 

Latam operations 3 387 2 494 1 275  498  263  244  826  92 

Monticello 2 590 2 494  556  498  212  244  154  92 
ocean Sun Casino  797 –  719 –  51 –  672 –

Management activities  477  745  356  409  299  472  95  33 

Total operating segments 12 972 12 167 5 171 4 374 2 389 2 209 2 083 1 300 

other  808  644 2 411 2 545 1 573 (297) – –

Central office and other  808  644 1 900 2 057  1 984  110 – –
Dinokana – –  511  488 – – – –
elimination of intragroup – – – – (411) (407) – –

Total 13 780 12 811 7 582 6 919 3 962 1 912 2 083 1 300 

other
tax  42  41  79  69 
Deferred tax  249  214  460  501 
Borrowings 7 582 6 919 

14 071 13 066 7 582 6 919 12 083 9 401 2 083 1 300

GrouP fInanCIal StatementS NOTES TO ThE GROup fiNANCiAL STATEmENTS CoNtINUeD
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r million 2014 2013

2. DePreCIatIon anD amortISatIon
property, plant and equipment (refer note 11) (882) (790)
Intangible assets (refer note 12) (76) (61)

(958) (851)

3. emPloYee CoStS
Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits (2 114) (2 032)
pension costs – defined contribution plans (194) (173)
 – defined benefit plans surplus recognition (refer to note 15) (2) (3)
other benefits – long service award (refer to note 22) (2) 1
 – post retirement (refer to note 22) (14) (13)
 – farewell gifts (refer to note 22) – (6)
employee share based payments (refer to note 32) (53) (46)
Restructure costs (refer to note 24) (165) –

(2 544) (2 272)

Number of employees at the end of the year 11 003 11 521 

 permanent core employees 8 808 9 450
 permanent scheduled employees 1 609 1 599
 temporary employees 586 472

4. oPeratInG ProfIt IS StateD after CHarGInG tHe folloWInG:
operating lease charges
plant, vehicles and equipment (31) (35)
property lease charges (99) (88)

 Cash charge (74) (73)
 Straight line charge (25) (15)

Auditors’ remuneration (22) (22)

 Audit fees (18) (16)
 Fees for other services (3) (5)
 expenses (1) (1)

professional fees (46) (42)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (refer to note 11) (39) –
Net profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 9 –

5. IntereSt InCome
Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents 23 29
preference share dividends 1 1
tax authorities 1 1

 25  31 

6. IntereSt eXPenSe
Interest paid on borrowings (375) (282)
preference share dividends (165) (208)
Imputed interest on loans payable (18) (21)
transfer from hedging reserve (4) (2)
Fair value of derivative financial instruments – (4)
tax authorities (1) (1)
Capitalised to property, plant and equipment (refer to note 11) 13 13

(550) (505)
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7. taX
Normal tax – South African (407) (451)
 – Foreign 12 4

(395) (447)

Current tax – current year (478) (461)
 – prior years (3) (10)
Deferred tax – current year 55 8
 – prior years 31 16

other taxes (refer to note 25.2) (22) (26)

(417) (473)

effect of tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 31 41

Reconciliation of rate of tax % %

Standard rate – South African 28.0 28.0
Adjusted for:
Disallowable expenses 5.2 0.6
exempt income (0.7) (0.5)
preference shares dividends 4.0 3.6
Foreign tax rate variations  (0.3) (0.8)
prior year over-provisions (2.4) (0.4)
other taxes 2.0 1.8

effective tax rate 35.8 32.3

8. EBITDA RECoNCILIATIoN
operating profit 1 679  1 880 
Depreciation and amortisation 958  851 
property and equipment rentals 148  104 
pre-opening Maslow lease rentals –  24 
Net profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (9) –
Impairment of Maslow assets 39  – 
pre-opening expenses 36  37 
Restructure costs 165  – 
Settlement of Bee shareholder options 16 –
employee benefits  – (15)
Insurance captive trust distribution (25) –
other 13  4 
Reversal of Dinokana and employee Share trusts’ consolidation* 32  35 

EBITDA  3 052  2 920 

*  The consolidation of the Dinokana and Employee Share Trusts are reversed as the Group does not receive the economic benefits of these trusts. 
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9. earnInGS Per SHare
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 518 697
Headline earnings adjustments 30  – 

Net profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (9) –
Impairment of Maslow assets  39  – 

tax relief on the above items (15)  – 
Minorities’ interests in the above items (3)  – 

Headline earnings 530 697
Adjusted headline earnings adjustments 192 12

pre-opening expenses 36  37 
Settlement of Bee shareholder options 16 –
pre-opening Maslow lease rentals – 24
employee benefits – (15)
Restructure costs 165  – 
Insurance captive trust distribution (25) –
other 13  4 
Foreign exchange profits on intercompany loans (13) (38)

tax relief on the above items (44) (1)
Minorities’ interests in the above items (18) (2)
Reversal of employee Share trusts’ consolidation 23 24

Adjusted headline earnings  683  730 

Number of shares for diluted EpS calculation (000’s)
Weighted average number of shares in issue 93 301 92 589 
Adjustment for dilutive share awards  417  521 

Diluted weighted average number of shares in issue 93 718 93 110 

Number of shares for diluted adjusted hEpS calculation (000’s)
Weighted average number of shares in issue 93 301 92 589 
Weighted deemed treasury shares 1 294 1 085 
Weighted treasury shares held by employee Share trusts 9 317 9 317 

Adjusted weighted average number of shares in issue 103 912 102 991 
Adjustment for dilutive share awards  417  521 

Diluted adjusted weighted average number of shares in issue 104 329 103 512 

Earnings per share (cents)
Basic 555 753
Headline 568 753
Adjusted headline 657 709

diluted earnings per share (cents)
Basic 553 749
Headline 566 749
Adjusted headline 655 705

earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares in issue.

Adjusted headline earnings include adjustments made for certain items of income or expense. these adjustments include pre-

opening expenses and material items considered to be outside the normal operating activities of the Group and/or of a non-

recurring nature.

For the diluted earnings per share calculation the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to take account 

of potential dilutive share awards granted to employees. the number of shares taken into account is determined by taking the 

number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to 

the outstanding share options and awards. this calculation is done to determine the ‘unpurchased’ shares to be added to the 

ordinary shares outstanding for the purpose of computing the dilution. 
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10. DIVIDenDS PaID
A final dividend of 155 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2013 was declared on 
26 August 2013 and paid on 23 September 2013. (152)

An interim dividend of 90 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2014 was declared 
on 21 February 2014 and paid on 24 March 2014.  (88)

A final dividend of 150 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2012 was declared on 
24 August 2012 and paid on 25 September 2012.  (145)

An interim dividend of 110 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2013 was declared 
on 22 February 2013 and paid on 25 March 2013.  (107)

 (240)  (252)

A final gross dividend of 155 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2014 was declared 

on 25 August 2014 and paid on 22 September 2014. the Company has no StC credits 

available and the dividend is therefore subject to the 15% withholding tax, resulting in a net 

dividend of 131.75 cents per share.

11. ProPertY, Plant anD equIPment
Net carrying value
Freehold land and buildings  5 844  5 541 
Leasehold land and buildings  1 498  1 536 
Infrastructure  926  957 
plant and machinery  456  494 
equipment  1 501  1 229 
Furniture and fittings  382  413 
Vehicles  31  37 
operating equipment  185  179 
Capital work in progress  557  208 

 11 380  10 594 

Cost

2014
r million opening

 Reclassi-
fications

 exchange
rate

adjustments Additions

Disposals
and

oe usage
Impair-
ments Closing

Asset type
Freehold land and buildings  6 680 (6)  (10)  480  (41)  –  7 103
Leasehold land and buildings  2 219 31  23  31  (26)  (39)  2 239
Infrastructure  1 406  2  (10)  28  (13)  –  1 413
plant and machinery  1 037  8  (6)  32  (5)  –  1 066
equipment  3 273  125  (6)  592  (261)  –  3 723
Furniture and fittings  980  29  (4)  42  (54)  –  993
Vehicles  85  1  –  9  (10)  –  85
operating equipment  179  –  (1)  69  (62)  –  185
Capital work in progress  208  (254)  2  601  –  –  557

 16 067  (64)*  (12)  1 884  (472)  (39)  17 364
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Accumulated depreciation

2014
r million opening

Reclassi-
fications

 exchange
rate

adjustments
 Depreciation
on disposals Depreciation Closing

Asset type
Freehold land and buildings  (1 139) –  4  24  (148)  (1 259)
Leasehold land and buildings  (683)  1  (3)  23  (79)  (741)
Infrastructure  (449)  –  2  13  (53)  (487)
plant and machinery  (543)  –  3  3  (73)  (610)
equipment  (2 044)  11  5  244  (438) (2 222)
Furniture and fittings  (567)  (21)  1  52  (76)  (611)
Vehicles  (48)  –  –  9  (15)  (54)

(5 473)  (9)*  12  368  (882) (5 984)

* Reclassified to intangible assets.

Cost

2013
r million opening

Reclassi-
fications

 exchange
rate

adjustments Additions
Disposals and

oe usage Closing

Asset type
Freehold land and buildings  5 721  508  418  34  (1)  6 680 
Leasehold land and buildings  1 990  128  65  141  (105)  2 219 
Infrastructure  1 295  54  65  19  (27)  1 406 
plant and machinery  942  78  42  43  (68)  1 037 
equipment  3 147  135  106  287  (402)  3 273 
Furniture and fittings  1 112  69  40  52  (293)  980 
Vehicles  76  1  2  21 (15)  85 
operating equipment  153  6  8  68 (56)  179 
Capital work in progress  602  (998)  3  603  (2)  208 

 15 038  (19)  749  1 268  (969)  16 067 

2013
r million

Accumulated depreciation

opening
Reclassi-
fication

 exchange
rate

adjustments
Depreciation
on disposals Depreciation Closing

Asset type
Freehold land and buildings  (979)  –  (41)  1  (120)  (1 139)
Leasehold land and buildings  (699)  –  (9)  104  (79)  (683)
Infrastructure  (418)  –  (8)  27  (50)  (449)
plant and machinery  (531)  –  (15)  68  (65)  (543)
equipment  (1 998)  9  (62)  395  (388)  (2 044)
Furniture and fittings  (768)  –  (16)  293  (76)  (567)
Vehicles  (50)  –  (1)  15  (12)  (48)

(5 443)  9 (152)  903 (790) (5 473)

the R39 million impairment on leasehold land and buildings is as a result of the onerous lease over the Maslow property 
(refer to note 4). the Maslow forms part of the operating segment, South African operations. the recoverable amount has been 
calculated using a discounted cash flow valuation. A discount rate of 11.7% was used.

Net carrying value of property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is R99 million (2013: R107 million) and relate mainly 
to equipment.

A copy of the register of properties is available for inspection by members of the public at the registered office of the Company.

Borrowing costs of R13 million (2013: R13 million) were capitalised during the year and are included in ‘Additions’ above. 
the capitalisation rate used of 3.9% (2013: 7.4%) is equal to the specific borrowing costs of the loans used to finance the 
relevant projects.

Included in freehold land and buildings and infrastructure are assets of R2 234 million (2013: R1 739 million) where the residual 
value is deemed to approximate the carrying value.
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12. IntanGIBle aSSetS
Net carrying value
Computer software  280  67 
Sun International brand  72  72 
Bid costs  113  130 
Management contracts  4  4 
Goodwill  132  120 
Lease premiums  14  15 
Restraint of trade  1  2 
Capital work in progress  105  84 

 721  494 

Cost

2014
r million opening Additions

Acquisition
of

subsidiary Disposals
Reclassi-
fication

 Exchange
rate

adjustments Closing

Asset type
Computer software 182 178 18 (33) 64 –  409
Sun International brand 72  –  –  –  –  –  72
Bid costs 582  6  –  –  –  – 588
Management contracts  5  –  –  –  –  –  5
Goodwill  228  – 14  –  –  (2)  240
Lease premiums  37  –  –  –  –  –  37
Restraint of trade  10  5  –  –  –  –  15
Capital work in progress  84  21  –  –  –  –  105

1 200 210 32 (33) 64 (2) 1 471

Accumulated amortisation and impairments

r million opening Amortisation Disposals
Reclassi-
fication

 Exchange
rate

adjustments Closing

Asset type
Computer software (115)  (46)  23  9  – (129)
Bid costs (452)  (23)  –  –  – (475)
Management contracts (1)  –  –  –  – (1)
Goodwill (108)  –  –  –  – (108)
Lease premiums (22)  (1)  –  –  – (23)
Restraint of trade  (8)  (6)  –  –  – (14)

(706) (76) 23 9  – (750)
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Cost

2013
r million opening Additions Disposals

Reclassi-
fication

 exchange
rate

adjustments Closing

Asset type
Computer software 159 14 (12) 19  2  182 
Sun International brand 72  –  –  –  –  72 
Bid costs 579  –  –  –  3  582 
Management contract  5  –  –  –  –  5 
Goodwill  196  –  –  –  32  228 
Lease premiums  37  –  –  – –  37 
Restraint of trade  10 –  –  –  –  10 
Capital work in progress  66 18  –  –  –  84 

 1 124  32  (12)  19  37  1 200 

Accumulated amortisation and impairments

r million opening Amortisation Disposals
Reclassi-
fication

 exchange
rate

adjustments Closing

Asset type
Computer software (89) (27) 11 (9) (1)  (115)
Bid costs (423) (28)  –  – (1)  (452)
Management contract (1)  –  –  –  –  (1)
Goodwill (108)  –  –  – –  (108)
Lease premiums (21) (1)  –  –  –  (22)
Restraint of trade  (3) (5)  –  –  –  (8)

 (645)  (61)  11  (9)  (2)  (706)

Sun InternatIonal BranD
the Sun International brand is classified as an indefinite life intangible asset as the Group believes that it will benefit from the 

name for an indefinite period. the brand was tested for impairment by discounting five years of projected cash flows on relevant 

operations and management contracts. Discount rates were based on the risk free rate of the appropriate country, a standard risk 

premium and a country risk premium and ranged from 7% to 13%. In determining the growth rates applied in the impairment 

calculations, consideration was given to the location of the business, including economic and political facts and circumstances. 

Based on these calculations, there is no indication of impairment.

GooDWIll
the goodwill opening balance relates to the acquisition of San Francisco Investment Resorts SA (SFIR) on 20 August 2008. 

Goodwill comprises intellectual property and the casino licence. the R14 million addition to goodwill relates to the acquisition of 

powerbet Gaming proprietary Limited (powerbet).

Goodwill was tested for impairment by performing a 'value-in-use' valuation by applying a discount rate that ranges from 8% to 

12%. the recoverable amount of all cash generating units has been determined based on value-in-use calculations. these 

calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five year period. 

Cash flows beyond the five year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated above. the recoverable local 

territory tax rates were applied and a terminal growth rate based on local inflation plus a premium. the difference between the 

'value-in-use' valuation and the net asset value of the cash generating unit (including goodwill) is R106 million for SFIR and 

R17 million for powerbet.
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13. aVaIlaBle-for-Sale InVeStment
Cape town International Convention Centre Company proprietary Limited (CtICC)
Balance at beginning and end of year  48  48

Directors' valuation  48  48

the 24.8% (2013: 24.8%) investment in the unlisted CtICC was part of the Group's bid 

commitments in the Western Cape. the investment was stated at fair value based on the latest 

available statutory financial statements, prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance 

with IFRS, of the CtICC being 30 June 2013. the Group has no significant influence over the 

Company, therefore the investment was designated as available-for-sale.

the available-for-sale asset has been classified as level 3.

14. loanS anD reCeIVaBleS
preference share funding of empowerment partners 1 11
Guarantee deposits – 15
other loans 6 4

7 30
Current portion (1) (28)

6 2

Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange contracts (FeCs) 7 35
Current portion (3) (24)

4 11

10 13

Loans & receivables are due over the following periods:
Less than 1 year 4 52
1 – 2 years 5 8
2 – 3 years 2 3
3 – 4 years 1 2
4 years and onwards 2 –

14 65

% %

the weighted average interest and dividend rates were as follows:
preference share funding of empowerment partners* 6.3 6.3
other loans 1.7 3.8

Weighted average 2.0 5.6

* These rates are linked to the prime bank overdraft rate.

the preference share funding of empowerment partners and other loans are fully performing. the preference share funding of 

empowerment partners, guarantee deposits and other loans are held at amortised cost.

the fair value of loans and receivables approximates their carrying value.
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15. retIrement BenefIt InformatIon
Valuation in terms of the financial Services Board (fSB) guidelines
A valuation of the defined benefit fund was carried out on 1 July 2013 by an independent firm 
of consulting actuaries and was approved by the FSB in August 2014. the fund was found to 
have a surplus of R377 million, of which R144 million has been designated as a solvency 
reserve by the trustees in terms of circular pF 117 issued by the Financial Services Board (FSB). 
Any allocation of assets to contingency reserves reduces the amount of surplus available for 
distribution to former members and other stakeholders. the Group carries out statutory 
actuarial valuations every three years.

present value of funded obligations (338) (278)
Fair value of fund assets 715 503

Surplus before contingency reserve 377 225
Contingency reserve (144) (80)
employer surplus account (35) (22)

Surplus  198  123

iAS 19R valuation
the surplus calculated in terms of IAS 19R: employee Benefits is presented below. It should be noted 

that this valuation is performed on a different basis to the valuation in terms of the FSB guidelines.

the amount recognised in the statement of financial position is determined as follows:
present value of funded obligations (391) (317)

Balance at beginning of year (317) (321)
Current service cost (4) (6)
Interest cost (27) (26)
Contributions by plan participants (1) (1)
Actuarial (loss)/gain (26) 25
Benefits paid 39 12
transfers of reinsured pensioner liability (55)  –

Fair value of plan assets 875 677

Balance at beginning of year 677 545
expected return on plan assets 59 44
Actuarial gain 122 99
Contributions by plan participants 1 1
Benefits paid (39) (12)
transfers of reinsured pensioner liability 55  –

present value of retirement benefit surplus 484 360
Less: application of asset ceiling (439) (331)

Balance at beginning of year (331) (186)
Interest income (30) (15)
Adjustment to asset ceiling (78) (130)

pension fund asset 45 29

the expected return on assets is calculated using the discount rate at the start of the period of 9% per annum rather than a “best 
estimate” return assumption based on actual assets in which the Fund invested.

In applying the asset ceiling the present value of the retirement benefit surplus that may be recognised as an asset is limited to the 
lower of the amount as determined above or the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the 
plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan plus any cumulative unrecognised net actuarial losses and past service costs.

the present value of the retirement surplus of the fund for the current and prior years is as follows:

r million 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

present value of funded obligations (391) (317) (321) (290) (249)
Fair value of plan assets 875 677 545 501 454

Surplus 484 360 224 211 205

experience adjustment on plan obligations 7% (8%) 6% 10% (1%)
experience adjustment on plan assets 14% 15% 3% 4% 7%
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15. retIrement BenefIt InformatIon continued
the amounts recognised in profit or loss for the year are as follows (refer to note 3):
Current service cost 4 6
Interest cost (2) (3)

2 3
the amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:
Net actuarial gain (96) (124)
effect of asset ceiling 78 130

(Surplus)/deficit (18) 6

Net movement in total comprehensive income for the year (16) 9

A 1% increase in the future rate increase of the pension fund liability assumption from 

9.45% per annum to 10.45% per annum results in the liability decreasing by R46.4 million, 

or 11.9% and the resultant decrease in the total of the service and interest costs on the 

defined benefit obligation is R1.9 million, or 4.7%.

A 1% decrease in the future rate of increase of the pension fund liability assumption from 

9.45% per annum to 8.45% per annum results in the liability increasing by R57.7 million, or 

14.8% and the resultant increase in the total of the service and interest costs on the defined 

benefit obligation is R2.2 million, or 5.3%.

the principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

Discount rate 9.45% 9.00%
Inflation rate 6.60% 6.00%
expected return on plan assets 9.45% 9.00%
Future salary increases 8.10% 7.50%
Future pension increases 6.60% 6.00%

the average life expectancy in years of an employee retiring at age 60 at 30 June 2014 and of a 

member retiring at age 60, 20 years after the statement of financial position date are as follows:

Male 19.4  19.4 
Female 24.2  24.2

Mortality rates are assumed to be in accordance with the following standard tables:

Before retirement:
SA1985-90 Ultimate table for males and females

After retirement:
pA 90 rated down 2 years for males and females

plan assets comprise:
Listed equity investments 74% 76%
Bonds and cash 25% 19%
other 1% 5%

pension plan assets include the Company's ordinary shares with a fair value of R3.6 million (2013: R3.5 million).

the expected return on plan assets has been set equal to the discount rate used to value the defined benefit obligations of the fund.

the fund has an amount of R35 million allocated to the employee surplus account that is currently being utilised towards a contribution 

holiday, which is expected to last for at least 1 year.
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16. InVentorY
Merchandise 24  25 
Consumables and hotel stocks 73  56 

97  81

17. aCCountS reCeIVaBle
financial instruments
trade receivables  226  212
Less provision for doubtful debts (23) (13)

Net trade receivables  203  199 
other receivables  181  113

 384  312 

Non financial instruments
prepayments  118  119
VAt  15  45

517 476

the fair value of accounts receivables approximates their carrying value.

the Group has increased the provision for doubtful debts by R10 million (2013: R3 million) for the possible impairment of its trade 

receivables during the year ended 30 June 2014. the Group has not utilised the provision during the year ended 30 June 2014 

(2013: Rnil). the movement of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in other operational costs in the 

statements of comprehensive income.

other receivables are expected to be fully recoverable based on historical recoverability. the trade receivables which are fully 

performing relate to customers that have a good track record with the Group in terms of recoverability.

the aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

 2014  2013

r million Gross

Provision
for doubtful

debts Gross

Provision
for doubtful

debts

Fully performing  109 –  111  – 
past due by 1 to 30 days  47 –  42  – 
past due by 31 to 60 days  13 –  14  – 
past due by 61 to 90 days  12 (1)  7  – 
past due by more than 90 days  45 (22)  38 (13)

 226 (23)  212 (13)
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18. SHare CaPItal anD PremIum
Authorised
150 000 000 (2013:150 000 000) ordinary shares of 8 cents each   12   12 12
100 000 000 (2013:100 000 000) variable rate cumulative redeemable 
preference shares of 1 cent each   1   1 1

issued*
Share capital   9   9 9
Share premium   300   300 268
treasury shares and share options (1 829) (1 781) (1 787)

(1 520) (1 472) (1 510)

All issued shares are fully paid.
* The issued preference shares have been included in borrowings in note 21.

1 875 517 shares in the unissued share capital of the Company remain under the control of the directors as a specific authority 
in terms of section 38(1) of the Companies Act to allot and issue in accordance with the share option scheme. 10 780 000 shares 
were placed under the specific control of the directors to allot and issue in accordance with the eGp and BMSp.

 2014 2013 2012

Number
of shares Rm

Number
of shares Rm

Number
of shares Rm

movement during the year
Statutory shares in issue 114 129 455   309 114 129 455   309 113 487 165   277 

Balance at beginning of year 114 129 455   309 113 487 165   277 111 095 130   146 
exercise of treasury share options  –   –  642 290  32 2 053 988   124 
Shares issued  –   –   –   –   338 047   7 

Treasury shares and share options (21 082 140) (1 829) (20 895 969) (1 781) (21 010 770) (1 787)

Balance at beginning of year (20 895 969) (1 781) (21 010 770) (1 787) (17 218 464) (1 613)
Deemed treasury shares purchased (409 119) (41) (149 361) (3) (831 273) (72)
Additional treasury shares 

consolidated in respect of Dinokana  –   –   –   –  (3 427 077) (187)
treasury share options exercised  –   –   –    29  –    61
treasury shares and deemed treasury 

shares disposed of  91 894   9  110 342  –   2 174  –  
treasury share options purchased  –  (29)  –  (34)  –  (20)
Vested shares awards  131 054   13  153 820   14  463 870   44

Closing balance 93 047 315 (1 520) 93 233 486 (1 472) 92 476 395 (1 510)

Treasury shares & share 
options
 Held by subsidiary 10 149 477  1 069 10 549 477  1 107 10 549 477  1 107
  Deemed treasury shares & share options 1 615 485   308 1 029 314   222 1 144 115   228
 Held by Dinokana 6 719 759  367 6 719 759  367 6 719 759  367
  Held by employee Share trusts 2 597 419   85 2 597 419   85 2 597 419   85

21 082 140  1 829 20 895 969  1 781 21 010 770  1 787

No treasury share options were exercised during the year (2013: 642 290 shares). 409 119 (400 000 purchased shares are from 
the issue of treasury shares), RSp and BMSp (2013: 149 361 RSp and CSp) shares were purchased during the year under review 
and 91 894 (2013: 110 342 RSp) RSp, CSp and BSMp shares were disposed.
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19. retaIneD earnInGS
Retained earnings at the end of the year comprise:
 Company  4 162  3 710 
 Subsidiaries and equity investments  1 286  1 441 

 5 448  5 151

20. DeferreD taX
Balance at beginning of year  287  275 
Credited to the statement of comprehensive income  (55)  (8)
prior year over provision  (31)  (16)
Adjustment due to rate change  –  1 
Acquisition of a subsidiary  (2)  – 
Currency translation adjustments  6  30 
Charged to other comprehensive income  6  5 

Balance at end of year  211  287

Deferred tax arises from the following temporary differences:

deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated asset allowances
 Balance at beginning of year  683  597 
 Reclassified from fair value adjustments  –  4 
 Currency translation adjustments  2  47 
 (Credited)/charged to statement of comprehensive income  (45)  35 

 640  683

 to be recovered after more than 12 months  539  576 
 to be recovered within 12 months  101  107 

deferred tax assets
Assessable losses  (253)  (261)

 Balance at beginning of year  (261)  (174)
 Currency translation adjustments  4  (40)
 Acquisition of subsidiary  (2)  – 
 Adjustment due to rate change  –  1 
 Charged/(credited) to statement of comprehensive income  6  (48)

Disallowed accruals and provisions  (175)  (152)

 Balance at beginning of year  (152)  (133)
 Currency translation adjustments  –  3 
 Reclassification from fair value adjustments  –  (13)
 Credited to statement of comprehensive income  (23)  (9)

Fair value adjustments  (1)  17 

 Balance at beginning of year  17  (15)
 Reclassification to disallowed accruals and provisions  –  13 
 Reclassfication to ppe  –  (4)
 Currency translation adjustments  –  20 
 Charged directly to other comprehensive income  6  5 
 Credited to statement of comprehensive income  (24)  (2)

 (429)  (396)

 to be recovered after more than 12 months  (94)  (108)
 to be recovered within 12 months  (335)  (288)

Net deferred tax liability  211  287

Aggregate assets and liabilities on subsidiary company basis:
Deferred tax assets  (249)  (214)
Deferred tax liabilities  460  501 

 211  287
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r million 2014 2013 2012

21. BorroWInGS
Non current
 term facilities 2 279 1 113 1 136 
 V&A loan  319  329  334 
 Redeemable preference shares 1 106 2 243 2 925 
 Lease liabilities  30  17  55 
 Vacation Club members  38  51  46 

3 772 3 753 4 496 

Current
 Short-term banking facilities 2 488 2 549 1 892 
 term facilities  45  213  101 
 Redeemable preference shares  876  12  5 
 Lease liabilities  29  63  47 
 V&A loan  10  5  –   
 Minority shareholder loans  362  324  377 

3 810 3 166 2 422 

Total borrowings 7 582 6 919 6 918 

Secured  442  483   528  
Unsecured 7 140 6 436 6 390 

7 582 6 919 6 918 

the fair value of borrowings approximate their carrying values except for the V&A loan which has a fair value of R368 million 
(2013: R387 million). the fair value has been determined on a discounted cash flow basis using a discount rate of 9% (2013: 9%).

the carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

r million 2014 2013 2012

 US Dollar  210  727 764
 Chilean peso  383  95 120
 South African Rand 6 989 6 097 6 034

7 582 6 919 6 918

Included in the South African Rand amount is a loan from Nedbank of R507 million. this loan was taken out to fund the 
purchase and fitout of the ocean Sun Casino in panama. the Company has entered into an interest rate cross currency swap 
to fix the interest rate and convert payments into dollars.

Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased asset revert to the lessor in event of default.

r million 2014 2013 2012

Net book value of property, plant and equipment encumbered by secured loans 2 348 2 442 3 436

the borrowings are repayable as follows:
 6 months or less  876  300  450 
 6 months – 1 year 2 934 2 858 1 972 
 1 – 2 years  333 1 400  771 
 2 – 3 years 1 392  633 1 132 
 3 – 4 years 1 036 1 197 1 309 
 4 years and onwards 1 011  531 1 284 

 7 582  6 919  6 918 

interest rates
Year end interest and dividend rates are as follows:
 Short-term banking facilities 7.3% 6.6% 7.1%
 term facilities 6.0% 7.6% 7.7%
 V&A loan 12.2% 12.2% 12.2%
 Redeemable preference shares 7.5% 6.9% 7.0%
 Lease liabilities 9.0% 9.1% 9.3%
 Vacation Club members 10.9% 10.9% 10.9%
 Minority Shareholders’ loans 5.0% 5.0% 6.1%

Weighted average 7.2% 7.2% 7.4%

As at 30 June 2014, interest rates on 23% (2013: 27%) of the Group’s borrowings were fixed. 69% (2013: 78%) of these fixed 
borrowings were for periods longer than 12 months. the interest rates other than on the V&A loan, approximate those currently 
available to the Group in the market.
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r million 2014 2013 2012

21. BorroWInGS continued
Redeemable preference shares
 SIL  –  417 1 111
 SISA  1 350  1 350 1 350
 RAH  121  – –
 Dinokana  511  488 469

 1 982  2 255 2 930

preference dividends on the SIL preference shares were payable semi-annually on 31 March and 30 September and calculated at a 

rate of 77% (2013: 77%) of the bank prime overdraft rate. the preference shares were redeemed during the current financial year.

preference dividends on the SISA preference shares are payable semi-annually on 31 August and 28 February and are calculated 

at an average rate of 7.1% (2013: 6.8%). the SISA preference shares are redeemable as follows: 

r million

october 2014 365
December 2016 675
october 2017 240
December 2017 70

1 350

preference dividends on the RAH preference shares are payable semi-annually on 31 May and 30 November and are calculated at 

a rate of 71% of the bank prime overdraft rate. the preference shares are redeemable in December 2016.

preference dividends on the Dinokana preference shares are payable semi-annually on 31 March and 30 September and 

are calculated at a rate of 91.3% (2013: 91.3%) of the bank prime overdraft rate. the preference shares are redeemable 

on 3 December 2014.

A register of non current borrowings is available for inspection at the registered office of the Company.

the Group had unutilised borrowing facilities of R1.7 billion (2013: R527 million) at 30 June 2014. All undrawn borrowing 

facilities are renewable annually and none have fixed interest rates.

Capitalised lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities are primarily for slot machines. At the time of entering into the capital lease arrangements, the commitments 

are recorded at the present value using applicable interest rates. the aggregate amounts of minimum lease payments and the related 

imputed interest under the capitalised lease contracts payable in each of the next five financial years and thereafter are as follows:

r million 2014 2013 2012

Gross minimum lease payments:
No later than 1 year  30  63 47
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years  31  22 57

61  85 104

imputed interest:
No later than 1 year (1)  – –
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years (1) (5) (2)

(2) (5) (2)

Net capital payments of finance lease liabilities  59  80 102
Net carrying value of assets held under finance leases  99  107 116
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r million 2014 2013

22. otHer non Current lIaBIlItIeS
financial instruments
Monticello purchase consideration (refer to note 26)  1 687 –
Derivative financial instruments
 Interest rate cross currency swaps (refer to note 26) 55  44 

 1 742 44
Current portion
 Interest rate cross currency swaps – (15)

 1 742  29

Non-financial instruments
Straight lining of operating leases  116  91
Deferred income  252  138

 Sun City Vacation Club  111  23
 DtI Grant  8 –
 Discounted slot machines  24 –
 Lessor contribution  109  115

Deferred payments  51 –

 Apartments for ocean Sun Casino  48 –
 other  3 –

Accrual for farewell gifts  6  6
Long service award  42  82
Lease restoration provision  5  5
post-retirement medical aid liability  112  99

 584  421
Current portion (10) (10)

 574  411

 2 316  440

monticello purchase consideration

As announced on SeNS on 2 July 2014 Sun International, on 30 June 2014, reached agreement to acquire a further 54.7% 
interest in Monticello for approximately US$114 million giving the Group an effective 98.9% interest. In addition Sun International 
will acquire shareholder loans and cash of approximately US$32 million. 

the R1 687 million relates to the purchase of an additional 54.7% in Monticello. R1 586 million is in respect of the initial cash 

amount, while R101 million is in respect of a possible earn out payment. 

Straight lining of operating leases

Lease payments relating to property are straight-lined over the term of the leases.

deferred income

Deferred income includes sales proceeds in respect of the Vacation Club units constructed at Sun City. this revenue is recognised 
over the 15 year period of the members’ contracts.

Lessor contributions were received in respect of the Maslow refurbishment. the contribution is recognised over 20 years and 
reduces the rental expense.

Apartments for Ocean Sun Casino

In terms of the purchase agreement for the apartments on level 65 of the trump tower, payment is only due in December 2015 
($2 million) and December 2016 ($2.5 million).
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r million 2014 2013

22. otHer non Current lIaBIlItIeS continued
post-retirement medical aid liability

the Group contributes towards the post-retirement medical aid contributions of eligible 
employees employed by the Group as at 30 June 2003. employees who joined the Group after 
1 July 2003 are not entitled to any co-payment subsidy from the Group upon retirement. 
employees are eligible for such benefits on retirement based upon the number of completed 
years of service. the methods of accounting and valuation are similar to those used for defined 
benefit schemes. the actuarial valuation to determine the liability is performed annually.

present value of unfunded obligations in the statements of financial position  112  99

the Group has no matched asset to fund the obligations. there are no unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and no unrecognised 
past service costs.

Movement in unfunded obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year  99  109
Interest cost  10  9
Current service cost  4  4
Actuarial loss/(gain) 1 (22)
Benefits paid (2) (1)

Benefit obligation at end of year  112  99

the amounts recognised in profit and loss are as follows (refer to note 3):
Current service cost  4  4
Interest cost  10  9

14 13

the amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:
Actuarial loss/(gain) 1 (22)

Net movement in total comprehensive income for the year  15 (9)

the expected expense to be recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ending 30 June 2015 is R15 million.

2014 2013

the principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes were:
 Discount rate 9.65% 9.45%
 price inflation allowed by Group 6.80% 5.31%

the average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 60 on the statement 

of financial position date and of a member retiring at age 60, 20 years after the statement 

of financial position date are as follows:
 Male  19.4  19.4
 Female  24.2  24.2

A 1% increase in the future rate of increase of the medical aid subsidy assumption from 5.78% (2013: 5.31%) per annum to 

6.78% (2013: 6.31%) per annum results in the liability increasing by R22.8 million (2013: R20.4 million), or 20.3% (2013: 20.5%) 

and the resultant increase in the total of the service and interest costs is R3.3 million (2013: R2.9 million), or 21.6% (2013: 21.8%).

A 1% decrease in the future rate of increase of the medical aid subsidy assumption from 5.78% (2013: 5.31%) per annum to 4.78% 

(2013: 4.31%) per annum results in the liability decreasing by R18.1 million (2013: R16.1 million), or 16.1% (2013: 16.2%) and 

the resultant reduction in the total of the service and interest costs is R2.6 million (2013: R2.3 million), or 17.0% (2013: 17.1%).

the present value of the post retirement medical aid obligation for the current and prior years is as follows:

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

present value of obligations 112 99 109 91  75
experience adjustment on plan obligations 1% (22%) 7% 7% (25%)
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r million 2014 2013

22. otHer non Current lIaBIlItIeS continued
Long service award
the Group offers employees a long service award. employees are eligible for such benefits 

based upon the number of completed years of service. the method of accounting and 

valuation are similar to those used for defined benefit schemes. the actuarial valuation to 

determine the liability is performed annually.

Movement in unfunded obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year  81  222
Interest cost  3  19
Current service cost  4  22
Actuarial gain (6) (5)
Settlement of past liability (40) (120)
Loss/(gain) on part settlement of liability  1 (37)
Benefits paid (1) (20)

Benefit obligation at end of year  42  81

the amounts recognised in profit and loss are as follows (refer to note 3):
 Current service cost  4  22
 Interest cost  3  19
 Loss/(gain) on part settlement of liability 1 (37)
 Actuarial gain (6) (5)

2 (1)

the principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes were:
 Discount rate 8.35% 7.65%
 Salary inflation assumption N/A 7.30%

During the 2013 financial year, the Group settled the old long service liability for non-bargaining unit employees for R120 million. 

A settlement of R40 million was made to bargaining unit employees in the current year. the new long service policy is now 

applicable to all employees.

A 1% increase in the discount rate will have a resultant decrease in the liability of R2.5 million (2013: R5.2 million), and a resultant 

decrease in the total of the service and interest costs of R0.1 million (2013: R0.3 million).

A 1% decrease in the discount rate will have a resultant increase in the liability of R2.7 million (2013: R5.8 million), and a resultant 

increase in the total of the service and interest costs of R0.1 million (2013: R0.3 million).

the expected expense to be recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ending 30 June 2015 is R3.7 million.

the present value of the long service awards obligation for the current and prior years is as follows:

r million 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

present value of obligations 42 81 222 167 156
experience adjustment on plan obligations 14% 6% 20% (3%)  –
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r million 2014 2013

22. otHer non Current lIaBIlItIeS continued
farewell gift liability
the Group offers a farewell gift to employees who are retiring or resigning. employees are 

eligible for such based upon the number of completed years of service. the method of 

accounting and valuation are similar to those used for defined benefit schemes. the actuarial 

valuation to determine the liability is performed annually.

Movement in unfunded obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year  6  –
Interest cost  – 1
Actuarial loss  – 5

Benefit obligation at end of year 6 6

the amounts recognised in profit and loss are as follows (refer to note 3):
Interest cost  – 1
Actuarial loss  – 5

total  – 6

the principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes were:
 Discount rate 8.65% 8.20%
 Salary inflation assumption 7.95% 7.40%

A 1% increase in the discount rate will have a resultant decrease in the liability of R0.6 million (2013: R0.6 million), and a resultant 

decrease in the total of the service and interest costs of R0.04 million (2013: R0.1 million).

A 1% decrease in the discount rate will have a resultant increase in the liability of R0.7 million (2013: R0.7 million), and a resultant 

increase in the total of the service and interest costs of R0.04 million (2013: R0.1 million).

the expected expense to be recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ending 30 June 2014 is R0.9 million 

(2013: R1 million).

the present value of the Farewell gift liability obligation for the current year is as follows:

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

present value of obligations 6 6 – – –
experience adjustment on plan obligations  – (83%) – – –
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r million 2014 2013

23. aCCountS PaYaBle anD aCCrualS
financial instruments
trade payables  265  209
Accrued expenses 741  699
Interest payable  8  10
Capital creditors  29  22
Current portion of interest rate cross currency swaps –  15
other payables  93  79

1 136 1 034

Non financial instruments
VAt  41  47
employee related accruals  339  343

1 516 1 424

the fair value of all non derivative financial instruments approximates their carrying value.

24. ProVISIonS
Balance at beginning of year:
 progressive jackpots  40  38
 Ster Century guarantee  8  5

 48  43

Created during the year:
 progressive jackpots –  146
 Ster Century guarantee –  3
 Restructure provision  112  –

 112  149

Utilised/settled during the year:
 progressive jackpots (22) (144)
 Ster Century guarantee (8)  –

(30) (144)

Balance at end of year:
 progressive jackpots  18  40
 Ster Century guarantee  –  8
 Restructure provision  112 –

 130  48

Restructure provision

During the current year the Group embarked on a section 189 and 189A of the Labour Relations Act restructuring process as part 

of the initiatives to improve operational performance. the process is still ongoing and has taken longer than expected due to 

extensive but constructive consultation with the unions and affected parties. the process is expected to be completed in the first 

half of the next financial year. R53 million has already been paid out during the financial year and a provision of R112 million has 

been raised for employees who have accepted early retirement and voluntary retrenchment. the liability is calculated based on 

the current remuneration level as well as years of employment. this brings the total cost relating to the restructure to 

R165 million (refer to note 3).

progressive jackpots

this is the provision for wide area progressives. the full provision is expected to be utilised within the next financial year.
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r million 2014 2013

25. CaSH floW InformatIon
25.1 Cash generated by operations

operating profit 1 679 1 880 
Non cash items and items dealt with separately:
 Depreciation and amortisation 958 851
 operating equipment usage 62 56
 Derivative financial instruments 55 (58)
 employee share based payments   53   46 
 pre-opening Maslow lease rentals – 24
 Impairment of Maslow assets 39 –
 Foreign exchange profit 12 57
 Deferred income accrued for   120 52 
 Long service award release  –  (21)
 other non-cash movements  20   36 

2 998 2 923 
Delivery of share awards (7) (11)

Cash generated by operations before working capital changes 2 991 2 912 
Working capital changes 98 168 

 Inventory (17) (6)
 Accounts receivable (43) 16 
 Accounts payable, accruals and provisions 158 158 

3 089 3 080 

25.2 Tax paid
Liability at beginning of year (28) (44)
Current tax provided (refer to note 7) (481) (471)
CGt, StC and withholding taxes (refer to note 7) (22) (26)
Foreign exchange adjustments – 15 
Liability at end of year 37 28 

(494) (498)

25.3 Acquisition of subsidiary
effective 30 october 2013, the Group acquired a 100% shareholding in powerbet Gaming 
(pty) Ltd (“powerbet”). A purchase price allocation has been performed in the results as set 
out below:
Computer software (refer to note 12)  (18) –
Deferred tax liability  3 –
Accounts receivable  (1) –
Cash and cash equivalents  (3) –
Accounts payable and accruals  3 –

Net assets  (16)  –   
Goodwill recognised (refer to note 12)  (14) –

Consideration settled in cash  (30)  –   
Cash and cash equivalents  3 –

Cash outflow  (27)  –   

the business was purchased as an entry into the online market and as entry into the fast growing sports betting industry. 

the acquisition enables the Group to gain invaluable experience given the expected legalisation of online gaming in South Africa.
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r million 2014 2013

25. CaSH floW InformatIon continued
25.4 disposal of subsidiary

on 30 June 2014 the Group disposed of 100% of its interest in 
Sun International travel proprietary Limited. 
the effect on the results is as follows:
Accounts receivable (4) –
Cash and cash equivalents (10) –
Accounts payable and accruals  20 –

Net liabilities disposed of  6 –
Consideration received  –   –

profit realised on disposal 6 –

Net cash outflow  (10) –

25.5 purchase of shares in subsidiaries (refer to note 34)
Monticello – (73)
Afrisun Leisure Investments (120) –
Afrisun Gauteng (3) –
teemane (3) –

(126)  (73)

25.6 increase/(decrease) in borrowings
Increase in borrowings 992   20 
Decrease in borrowings (280) (715)
Imputed interest (18) (21)
(Decrease)/increase in short term banking facilities (61)  657  

633 (59)

25.7 interest paid
Interest expense (550) (505)
Imputed interest on loans payable   18   21 
Fair value of derivative financial instruments  –    4 
Non cash transfer from hedging reserve – 2 

(532) (478)

25.8 dividends paid
to shareholders (240) (252)
to minorities in subsidiaries (249) (273)

(489) (525)

25.9 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank   834   841 
Cash floats   124   183 

 958 1 024
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26. fInanCIal rISK manaGement
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. the Group at all times 

maintains adequate committed credit facilities in order to meet all its commitments as and when they fall due. Repayment of 

borrowings are structured to match the expected cash flows from operations to which they relate.

the Group’s preference share funding is subject to debt covenants which are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

the following are the contractual undiscounted maturities of financial liabilities (including principal and interest payments) 

presented in Rands:

r million

on demand
or not

exceeding
6 months

More than
6 months

but not
exceeding

1 year

More than
1 year

but not
exceeding

2 years

More than
2 years
but not

exceeding
5 years

More than
5 years

2014
term facilities   79   105   508  1 797   316 
Minority shareholder loans   362 – – – –
V&A loan   25   25   55   195   244 
Redeemable preference shares  946  49   76  1 156   –  
Lease liabilities   20   7   11   24 –
Vacation Club members – – – –   81
Short-term banking facilities*   78  2 410 – – –
Derivative financial instruments (9) (10) (16) (8)   97 
trade payables   265  –   –   –   –  
Accrued expenses  741  –   –   –   –  
Interest payable   8  –   –   –   –  
Capital creditors   29  –   –   –   –  
other payables   93  –   –   –   –  
Monticello purchase consideration   1 687  –   –   –   –  

 4 324  2 586   634  3 164   738 

2013
term facilities   457   154   296   907   132 
Minority shareholder loans   324  –   –   –   –  
V&A loan   23   23   50   179   315 
Redeemable preference shares   69   69   921  1 191  –  
Lease liabilities   32   31   20   2 –
Vacation Club members  –   –  –   –    99 
Short-term banking facilities*   95  2 454  –    –    –   
Derivative financial instruments   7   8   12   8  –  
trade payables   209  –    –    –    –   
Accrued expenses   699  –    –    –    –   
Interest payable   10  –    –    –    –   
Capital creditors   22  –    –    –    –   
other payables   79  –    –    –    –   

 2 026  2 739  1 299  2 287   546 

* These are 364 day notice facilities. As at date of this report no notice on any of these facilities had been received.

All derivative financial instruments are classified as level 2 financial instruments.
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26. fInanCIal rISK manaGement continued

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from loans and receivables, accounts receivable (excluding prepayments and VAt), and cash and cash equivalents. 

trade debtors consist mainly of large tour operators. the granting of credit is controlled by application and account limits. Cash 

investments are only placed with high quality financial institutions.

the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of all financial assets determined to be exposed to 

credit risk, with the exception of financial guarantees granted by the Group for which the maximum exposure to credit risk is the 

maximum amount the Group would have to pay if the guarantees are called on (refer to note 28).

the Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables due to a widely dispersed customer 

base. Credit risk with respect to loans and receivables is disclosed in note 14.

market risk

Market risk includes foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. the Group’s exposure to other price risk is limited 

as the Group does not have material investments which are subject to changes in equity prices.

(a) foreign currency risk

the Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures primarily with 

respect to US Dollar, Sterling, Botswana pula, Chilean peso, Nigerian Naira, Zambian Kwacha and Colombian peso.

the Group manages its foreign currency risk by ensuring that the net foreign currency exposure remains within acceptable levels. 

Companies in the Group use foreign exchange contracts (FeCs) and interest rate cross currency swaps to hedge certain of 

their exposures to foreign currency risk. the Group has one material FeC outstanding at 30 June 2014 (2013: two) with a fair 

value of R55 million (2013: R32 million). the notional amount of the outstanding FeC at 30 June 2014 was R500 million 

(2013: R239 million). Refer to paragraph (b) for the interest rate cross currency swaps.

Included in the statements of financial position are the following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional 

currency of the Group (Rand):

r million 2014 2013

fInanCIal aSSetS

US Dollar   353   366 
Sterling   11   28 
Botswana pula   84   80 
Chilean peso   294   246 
Nigerian Naira   35   35 
euro  –    2 
Zambia ZMW   23   30 
Colombian pesos   15 –

fInanCIal lIaBIlItIeS

US Dollar   400   726 
Botswana pula   13   12 
Chilean peso   645   251 
Nigerian Naira   82   74 
Zambia ZMW   21   29 
Colombian pesos   4 –

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate in Rand due to changes 

in foreign exchange rates.
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26. fInanCIal rISK manaGement continued
foreIGn CurrenCY SenSItIVItY

A 10% strengthening in the Rand against foreign currencies at 30 June 2014 would decrease profit before tax by the amounts 

shown below. this analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. the analysis was 

performed on the same basis for 2013.

r million 2014 2013

US Dollar 29 30
Sterling  –   (1)

A 10% weakening in the Rand against these currencies at 30 June 2014 would have an equal but opposite effect to the amounts 

shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

A 10% strengthening in the Chilean peso against the US Dollar at 30 June 2014 would increase/(decrease) the profit before tax 

by the amount shown below. this analysis assumes that all other variables, remain constant. 

r million 2014  2 013 

profit before tax – (3)

A 10% weakening in the Chilean peso against the US Dollar at 30 June 2013 would have had an equal but opposite effect to 

the amount shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

(b) Cash flow interest rate risk

the Group’s cash flow interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and variable rate borrowings. the Group is not exposed 

to fair value interest rate risk as the Group does not have any fixed interest bearing financial instruments carried at fair value.

the Group manages interest rate risk by entering into short and long term debt instruments with a combination of fixed and 

variable interest rates. It also uses floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps and interest rate cross currency swaps to hedge its foreign 

currency and interest rate cash flow risk. At 30 June 2014, the following derivative financial instruments were in place:

2014 2013

SIL interest
rate cross
currency

swap

Emfuleni
interest rate 

swaps

emfuleni
interest rate 

swaps

SFIR
interest rate

cross currency 
swaps

Notional amount R500 million R300 million R300 million US$41 million
Fixed exchange rate 9.8811 526 – 5912

Swapped notional uS$51 million
Fixed rate 3.87%
 30 September 2015 swap 5.57% 5.57%
 29 September 2017 swap 5.97% 5.97%
Variable rate 3 month

Jibar + 2.05
NACS

Linked to
quarterly

Jibar

Linked to
quarterly

Jibar

Linked to
USD Libor

Fair value liability/(asset) at 30 June R55 million (R4 million) (R4 million) R44 million
transfer of profit from hedging reserve to foreign 
exchange profits R2 million
Net profit on cash flow hedges R1 million R3 million

1 Swapped Rands for US Dollars.
2 3 fixed rate swaps were entered into swapping US Dollars for Chilean Pesos (US$1: CLP 526 – 591).

the term over which the cash flows are expected to occur and impact on profit and loss is the same as set out in the derivatives 
maturity analysis on page 40.
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26. fInanCIal rISK manaGement continued
the interest rate characteristics of new and refinanced debt instruments are restructured according to expected movements in 
interest rates (refer to note 21).

IntereSt rate SenSItIVItY

A 1% increase in interest rates at 30 June would decrease profit before tax by the amounts shown below. this analysis assumes that 
all other variables remain constant. 

r million 2014  2013 

profit before tax (58)  (34)

A 1% decrease in interest rates at 30 June would have an equal but opposite effect to the amounts shown above, on the basis 
that all other variables remain constant. 

Capital risk management

the Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide benefits for its stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust this capital structure, the Group may issue new shares, adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or buy back existing shares.

the board of directors monitors the level of capital, which the Group defines as total share capital, share premium, treasury 
shares and treasury share options.

there were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

the Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

fair value estimation

the table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. the different levels have been defined 
as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that 
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 total

Available-for-sale financial assets 
Unlisted investments  –    –   48 48
Loans and receivables
Derivatives used for hedging  –   7  –   7

Total assets  –   7 48 55

Liabilities Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 total

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Derivatives used for hedging  –  55  –  55

Total liabilities  –   55 – 55

Financial instruments in level 3
there have been no changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended 30 June 2014 or for the prior two years.
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27. SuBSIDIarIeS anD non-ControllInG IntereStS
the following is summarised financial information of material subsidiaries with non-controlling interests. See note 34 for transactions 

with non-controlling interests. the information is before inter-company eliminations with other companies in the Group.

2014

Total comprehensive income

Total
Attributable to 

non-controlling interest

Non-
controlling
interests %

Profit
after tax

other 
compre-
hensive
income

Total
compre-
hensive
income

Profit
after tax

Total
compre-
hensive
income

Material subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests
Afrisun Gauteng   5%   111   1   112   5   5
Afrisun KZN   35%   197  –     197   69   69
emfuleni Resorts   15%   8  –     8   1   1
SunWest International 25%   465  –     465   117   117
San Francisco Investment 

Resorts SA (Monticello) *56%   9  –     9   5   5
Other Various   139 (11)   128   34 24

total     929 (10)   919   231   221

*  As at 30 June 2014, an agreement had been reached to purchase an additional 54.7% of San Francisco Investment Resorts SA. 

Statement of financial position

Current
assets

Non
current
assets

Current
liabilities

Non current
liabilities Net assets

Net assets
attributable

to non-
controlling

interests

Material subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests
Afrisun Gauteng   27   635 (676) (18) (32) (2)
Afrisun KZN   30   719 (463) (31)   255   89
emfuleni Resorts   39  1 062 (265) (470)   366   55
SunWest International   81  1 335 (733) (368)   315 79
San Francisco Investment 

Resorts SA (Monticello)   139  2 238 (908) (251)  1 218   682

dividends and statement of cash flows

Dividends
paid to

non–
controlling

interests
during

the year

Cash flows
from

operating
activities

Cash flows
from

investing
activities

Cash flows
from

financing
activities

Net
increase/
(decrease)

in cash
and cash

equivalents

Material subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests
Afrisun Gauteng   3 171 (70) (94) 7
Afrisun KZN   61 278 (109) (155) 14
emfuleni Resorts  –   182 (58) (129) (5)
SunWest International   113 703 (290) (428) (15)
San Francisco Investment 

Resorts SA (Monticello)  –   142 (130) (30) (18)

Dividends paid to the remaining subsidiaries with non-controlling interests amounted to R72 million.
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27. SuBSIDIarIeS anD non-ControllInG IntereStS continued
2013

Total comprehensive income

total
Attributable to 

non-controlling interest

Non-
controlling

interests %
profit

after tax

other 
compre-
hensive
income

total
compre-
hensive
income

profit
after tax

total
compre-
hensive
income

Material subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests
Afrisun Gauteng 5%   136   1   137   7   7
Afrisun KZN 36%   187   1   188   67   67
emfuleni Resorts 17% (6)   3 (3)   –   –
SunWest International 26%   439   1   440   116   116
San Francisco Investment 

Resorts SA (Monticello) 56%   63 168   231   35 129
Other Various   180 126   306 68 273

total   999   300  1 299 293   592

Statement of financial position

Current
assets

Non
current
assets

Current
liabilities

Non
current

liabilities
Net

assets

Net assets
attributable

to non-
controlling

interests

Material subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests
Afrisun Gauteng   23   650 (730) (17) (74) (4)
Afrisun KZN   21   692 (447) (31)   235   85
emfuleni Resorts   59  1 086 (258) (539)   348   59
SunWest International   103  1 168 (585) (387)   299   78
San Francisco Investment 

Resorts SA (Monticello)   144  2 350 (719) (537)  1 238   693

dividends and statement of cash flows

Dividends
paid

to non-
controlling

interests
during

the year

Cash flows
from

operating
activities

Cash flows
from

investing
activities

Cash flows
from

financing
activities

Net increase/
(decrease)

in cash
and cash

equivalents

Material subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests
Afrisun Gauteng   12   332 (128) (201) 3
Afrisun KZN   78   290 (60) (225) 5
emfuleni Resorts  –    109 (315) 201 (5)
SunWest International   124   633 (78) (541) 14
San Francisco Investment 

Resorts SA (Monticello)  –    212 (88) (164) (40)

Dividends paid to the remaining subsidiaries with non-controlling interests amounted to R59 million.
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r million 2014 2013

28. ContInGent lIaBIlItIeS
Group companies have guaranteed borrowing facilities of certain Group subsidiaries in which 

the Group has less than 100% shareholding. the Group has therefore effectively underwritten 

the minorities’ share of these facilities in the amount of R583 million at 30 June 2014 

(June 2013: R612 million).

Wild Coast Land Claim

the land claimants, being the Mgungundlovu Community, are asking the Land Claims Court 

for relief in the form of declaring the company’s long-term notarial lease over the Wild Coast Sun 

property invalid; alternatively ordering restitution of ownership of the property from the State 

to the Community. the latter ground is not an issue. the first ground is being defended in 

that the loss of the lease would result in the revocation of the Wild Coast Sun’s casino licence 

due to the absence of tenure to the property, which is a requirement in terms of the eastern 

Cape gambling legislation. the trial is scheduled to start in early November 2014. It is difficult 

to assess the Community’s prospects of success with this ground but at a Group level the 

exposure is perhaps not significant.

29. CaPItal eXPenDIture anD rental CommItmentS
Capital commitments
Contracted  657  183
Authorised by the directors but not contracted  1 434  1 259

 2 091  1 442

to be spent in the forthcoming financial year  2 004  1 442
to be spent thereafter  87  –

 2 091  1 442

Future capital expenditure will be funded by a combination of internally generated cash flows 
and debt facilities.

Rental commitments
the Group has the following material rental agreements as at 30 June 2014:

(i) For the Group’s head office in Sandton, expiring on 1 July 2029, with an annual rental of 

R15.4 million, escalating at 7% per annum. the Group has the option to renew the lease for 

5 years after the expiration of the initial lease.

(ii) For the land upon which the Wild Coast Sun Resort is situated, expiring on 9 March 2029, at 

an annual rental of R0.1 million, escalating at 5% per annum. the Group has an option to 

renew the lease to March 2079. the rental payment would be negotiated and cannot increase 

by more than 15% based on the rental payable in March 2029.

(iii) For the land upon which the Flamingo casino complex is situated, expiring on 30 September 

2096, with an annual rental of R0.1 million, plus contribution to the maintenance cost of the 

golf course.

(iv) For the Sands Hotel building expiring on 30 June 2019, with an annual rental of R11.2 million, 

escalating at 8% per annum. the Group has the option to renew the lease to June 2029.

(v) For the Maslow Hotel building expiring on 31 December 2031, with an annual rental of 

R22 million, escalating at 7% per annum.

the future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are 

as follows:

No later than 1 year  45  52
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years  255  194
Later than 5 years  1 166  956

1 466 1 202
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r million 2014 2013

30. relateD PartY tranSaCtIonS
Key management personnel have been defined as: Sun International Limited board of directors 

and Sun International Management executive team with Group oversight. the definition of key 

management includes the close members of family of key management personnel and any 

entity over which key management exercises control. Close members of family are those family 

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by that individual in their 

dealings with the Group. they may include the individual’s domestic partner and children, the 

children of the individual’s domestic partner and dependants of the individual or the individual’s 

domestic partner.

(i) Key management compensation
non-eXeCutIVe DIreCtorS

Fees 5  5 

eXeCutIVe DIreCtorS

Basic remuneration 11  9
Bonuses/performance related payments 12  6
Retirement contributions 2  2
other benefits 1  16
Fair value of options expensed 10  9

 36  42

 41  47

otHer KeY manaGement

Basic remuneration 28  25
Bonuses/performance related payments 20  18
Retirement contributions 5  4
other benefits 2  3
Fair value of options expensed 20  16

 75  66

Details of individual directors’ emoluments and share options are set out in the Remuneration report.

Share based compensation granted

SHare oPtIon SCHeme

All share options and grants were awarded to key management on the same terms and conditions as those offered to other 

employees of the Group.

Directors

No share options were granted to the executive directors of the Group during 2014 (2013: nil). the number of share options held 

by executive directors at the end of the year was nil (2013: 14 063).

Other key management

the number of share options held by other key management at the end of the year was 131 438 (2013: 106 907).
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30. relateD PartY tranSaCtIonS continued
Other share schemes

Movements on share grants is set out below:

2014 2013

r million
Executive

management
other key

management
Average

grant price
executive

management
other key

management
Average

grant price

EGP
opening balance 121 768  420 390 86.03  209 338  641 144 86.10
Movement in employees –  112 276 88.17  78 061 (78 061) 87.12
exercised – – – (47 670) (67 399) 82.74
Lapsed termination of employment – (57 213) 87.06 (109 852)  – 86.50
Lapsed vesting condition not met (18 923) (78 285) 77.25 (20 208) (75 294) 90.47
Granted  369 193  592 680  102.19  12 099  –  89.46 

Closing balance  472 038  989 848 97.37  121 768  420 390 86.03

CSP
opening balance  96 867  267 529 88.06  137 805  475 146 86.84
Movement in employees –  25 291 87.82  80 469 (80 469) 87.21
Lapsed termination of employment – (47 728) 88.24 (92 377)  – 86.66
Lapsed vesting condition not met (25 494) (71 965) 89.46 (29 030) (127 148) 84.12
Granted (19 540) (55 157) 89.46  –  – 

Closing balance  51 833  117 970 86.55  96 867  267 529 88.06

DBP
opening balance  17 253  29 580 86.06  16 839  32 904 88.60
Movement in employees –  11 666 87.10  6 293 (6 293) 89.00
Matching award (1 463) (8 016) 97.04 (10 018) (14 357) 91.49
Lapsed termination of employment – (2 825) 83.80 (8 595)  – 83.29
Granted – – –  12 734  17 326  85.47 

Closing balance  15 790  30 405 84.21  17 253  29 580 86.06

RSP & BMSP
opening balance  267 240  174 315 93.03  288 546  303 086 90.54
Movement in employees –  30 015 89.25  108 125 (108 125) 84.75
Vested (16 273) (33 891) 97.35 (101 126) (20 646) 93.78
Lapsed termination of employment – – – (138 647)  – 90.39
Granted  49 183  126 305  95.38  110 342  –  105.65 

Closing balance  300 150  296 744 93.17  267 240  174 315 93.03

2014 2013

(ii) Shareholding of key management
Percentage holding by key management 
 Sun International Limited 1.8 1.5
 Afrisun KZN 0.7 0.9
 National Casino Resort Manco Holdings 5.7 8.6
 teemane – 0.3

R’000 R’000

Dividends received by key management 
 Sun International Limited 1 993  1 863 
 Afrisun KZN 1 303  2 056
 National Casino Resort Manco Holdings 280  814
 teemane –  70

3 576  4 803 
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r million 2014 2013

31. InSuranCe ContraCtS
the Group has a captive insurance company which underwrites a range of insurance risks 

on behalf of Group operating companies. on consolidation these insurance contracts are 

eliminated. the insurance captive purchases reinsurance cover for any individual loss exceeding 

R3 million. Amounts arising from these contracts are as follows:

Reinsurance premium costs 15 16

2014 2013

r million
Number

of shares
Average

price
Number

of shares
Average 

price

32. SHare InCentIVe SCHemeS
All share schemes are equity settled.

(i) Share option scheme
Movements in the number of share options outstanding 
are as follows:
moVement DurInG tHe Year

Balance at beginning of year  837 730  48.24 1 503 833  48.68
exercised (463 347)  41.06 (666 103)  49.24

Balance at end of year  374 383  57.11  837 730  48.24 

oPtIonS HelD BY SHare oPtIon truSt

Balance at the beginning of year  33 501  42.89  12 188  44.89
purchased from employees  463 347  41.06  666 103  49.24
options exercised  –  – (642 290)  50.54
options lapsed (49 095)  38.35 (2 500)  25.63

Balance at end of the year  447 753  41.50  33 501  42.89

 822 136  48.61  871 231  48.04 

Share options held by participants at the end of the year have the following terms:

Financial year of grant Financial year of lapse
Vested

options

Average
price

R

2005 2015  368 758  55.83
2006 2016  5 625  74.00

Balance at 30 June 2014  374 383  57.11

Balance at 30 June 2013  837 730  48.24

30. relateD PartY tranSaCtIonS continued

(iii) Other commercial transactions with related parties
Interest in timeshare

Certain members of key management own timeshare at Sun City, which was acquired at market prices.

Sale of subsidiary to related party

the Company sold its investment in Sun International travel proprietary Limited at 30 June 2014 to a company in which 

Ms ZBM Bassa, who serves as a non-executive director on the SIL board, has an interest.

(iv) Other related party relationships
Management agreements are in place between SIML and various Group companies. A management fee is charged by SIML 

in respect of management services rendered.
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32. SHare InCentIVe SCHemeS continued
(i) Share option scheme continued

Share options held by Share option trust at the end of the year have the following terms:

Financial year of grant Financial year of lapse
options

held

Average
price

R

2005 2015 441 409 38.47
2006 2016 6 344 61.83

Balance at 30 June 2014  447 753  41.50

Balance at 30 June 2013  33 501  42.89 

Share options are exercisable on the expiry of one year from the date of grant in cumulative tranches of 25% per annum and 

vest on retirement, retrenchment and death. options lapse if not exercised within ten years of their date of grant. options under 

the scheme were granted at prices ruling on the JSe Limited at the date of granting those options. No options were issued during 

the year.

(ii) Conditional share plan 

CSp awards provide senior executives with the opportunity to receive shares in Sun International Limited by way of a conditional 

award, which is subject to the fulfilment of predetermined performance conditions on the expiry of a three year performance 

period. the performance condition is related to the Company’s total shareholder return (tSR) over a three year period, relative to 

the tSR of constituents in the INDI 25 index and gambling/hotels sub-sectors of the travel and leisure sector that have a market 

capitalisation of greater than R1 billion. No awards vest if the Group’s tSR falls below the median tSR of the comparator group 

while all the awards vest if the Group’s tSR falls within the upper quartile. Between the median and upper quartile the CSp awards 

vest linearly as the ranking of the Group’s tSR increases. For awards made in 2011 and 2012, 40% of the award is based on the 

performance condition related to the Company’s tSR over a 3 year period as described above. In addition two new performance 

conditions were included as follows:

30% of the award is based on achieving AHepS threshhold and on-target performance targets.

30% of the award is based on the Group achieving and maintaining a B-BBee rating level of 4 or better as at December 2013.

Movements in the number of share grants outstanding are as follows:

 2014  2013 

Number
of grants

Weighted
average

grant price
R

Number
of grants

Weighted
average

grant price
R

Balance at beginning of year  492 725  88.00  787 449  91.48
Lapsed – termination of employment (32 437)  87.96 (97 894)  86.66
Lapsed – performance condition not met (130 504)  89.46 (212 656)  84.12
Granted – – 15 826  89.46

Balance at end of year  329 784  87.43  492 725  88.00 

Share grants outstanding at the end of the year vest on the 
following dates, subject to fulfilment of performance 
conditions:
Year ending on 30 June
2014  – –  246 204  89.46
2015  100 023  89.46  246 521  86.55
2016 229 761  86.55  –  –

329 784 87.43 492 725 88.00
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32. SHare InCentIVe SCHemeS continued
(iii) Equity growth plan

eGp rights provide senior executives with the opportunity to receive shares in Sun International Limited through the grant of 
conditional eGp rights, which are rights to receive shares equal in value to the appreciation of the Sun International share price 
between the date on which the conditional eGp rights are granted and the date on which they are exercised, subject to the 
fulfilment of predetermined performance conditions over a specified performance period. the performance condition applied to 
the grants is that the Group’s adjusted headline earnings per share should increase by 2 percent per annum above inflation over 
a three-year performance period. If the performance condition is not met at the end of 3 years it is retested at the end of 4 and 
5 years from the date of grant. From 2011, the awards are no longer re-tested at the end of years 4 and 5. these awards lapse 
after the initial 3 year period.

Movements in the number of share grants outstanding are as follows:

 2014  2013 

Number
of grants

Weighted
average

grant price
R

Number
of grants

Weighted
average

grant price
R

Balance at beginning of year 2 653 173  85.68 3 767 343  85.98
Lapsed – termination of employment (182 447)  89.48 (278 723)  86.73
Lapsed – performance condition not met (563 428)  78.58 (437 581)  90.47
exercised (315 589)  84.08 (409 965)  82.74
Granted 1 233 549  101.71 12 099  89.46

Balance at end of year 2 825 258  94.03 2 653 173  85.68

exercisable at end of year 1 001 158  87.16  636 778  84.12

Share grants outstanding at the end of the year become 
exercisable on the following dates, subject to fulfilment of 
performance conditions:
Year ending on 30 June 
2013 – – 1 217 422  80.84
2014  1 001 158  87.16  676 610  89.46
2015  643 796  90.07  759 141  90.07
2016 609 817  94.87 – –
2017  570 487  109.65 – –

2 825 258 94.03 2 653 173 85.68

(iv) deferred bonus plan
DBp shares are Sun International Limited shares acquired by senior executives with a portion of their declared annual bonus and 
entitle the participant to receive a matching award (an equal number of Sun International Limited shares as acquired) at the end 
of a three-year period. the matching award is conditional on continued employment and the DBp shares being held by the 
participant at the end of the three-year period.

Movements in the number of matching awards outstanding are as follows:

 2014  2013 

Number
of grants

Weighted
average

grant price
R

Number
of grants

Weighted
average

grant price
R

Balance at beginning of year  91 745  86.23  88 559  88.86
Lapsed – termination of employment (1 722)  82.87 (22 030)  85.62
Granted – – 62 818  85.47
Matching awards (17 116)  95.92 (37 602)  91.49

 72 907  84.04  91 745  86.23

DBp shares held at the end of the year entitle participants to 
matching awards on the following dates:
Year ending on 30 June
2014  –  –  15 451 97.04
2015  22 964 80.93  23 949 80.93
2016  49 943 85.47  52 345 85.47

72 907 84.04 91 745 86.23
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32. SHare InCentIVe SCHemeS continued
(v) Restricted share plan and Bonus matching share plan (RSp and BmSp)

RSp and BMSp shares are Sun International Limited shares granted to key staff in return for continuing employment with the 

Group and matches their bonus payment. the shares will be forfeited and any dividends received on the shares will be repayable 

should the employee leave the Group prior to the expiry of the vesting period. the vesting period is either 3 or 5 years. In the 

case of a three year award, 100% of the shares awarded will vest after 3 years and in the case of the five year award, 50% vests 

after 3 years, 25% after 4 years and the remaining 25% after 5 years.

Movement in the number of shares outstanding are as follows:

 2014  2013 

Number
of grants

Weighted
average

grant price
R

Number
of grants

Weighted
average

grant price
R

Balance at beginning of year  770 036 91.63  896 069 90.23
Granted during the year  432 198 95.30  126 595 103.54
Lapsed – resignation (78 802) 89.41 (98 803) 90.69
Vested during the year (131 046) 95.50 (153 825) 93.90

Balance at end of year  992 386 92.89  770 036 91.63

RSp and BMSp share grants outstanding at the end of the 
year vest on the following dates, subject to fulfilment of 
employment conditions:
Year ending on 30 June
2014  –  –  131 046 95.50
2015 237 886 88.55  387 823 88.05
2016 8 258 89.25  133 710 94.90
2017 635 900 92.41  89 872 92.62
2018 110 342 105.65  27 585 105.65

992 386 92.89 770 036 91.63

ValuatIon of SHare InCentIVe GrantS

the fair values of CSp and eGp options granted during the year were estimated using the binomial asset pricing model. For the 

DBp, RSp and BMSp the share grants are valued based on the ruling share price on the date of the grant. the table below sets 

out the valuation thereof and the assumptions used to value the grants:

2014 CSP EGP DBP RSP & BMSP

Weighted average grant price R101.71 R95.30
Weighted average 400-day volatility 25.55% n/a
Weighted average long term risk rate 5.25% n/a
Weighted average dividend yield 3.83% n/a
Valuation R34 million R41 million

2013
Weighted average grant price R89.46 R89.46 R85.47 R103.54
Weighted average 400-day volatility 23.00% 26.00% n/a n/a
Weighted average long term risk rate 4.80% 4.80% n/a n/a
Weighted average dividend yield 3.80% 3.80% n/a n/a
Valuation R0.9 million R0.3 million R5 million R13 million

the employee share based payment expense for the year was R53 million (2013: R46 million).
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33 emPloYee SHare truStS
these trusts have been consolidated in the Group’s financial statements in terms of IFRS10 – Consolidated Financial Statements. 

However, the trusts are controlled by their trustees. the majority of the trustees are representatives elected by and from the 

employees who are beneficiaries of the trust. the Company has no beneficial interest in and has no control over the trusts. the 

Group does not share in any economic benefits of the trusts.

Sun international Employee Share Trust

the Sun International employee Share trust was established to enable eligible employees to share in the success of the Group 

through share ownership. the share scheme excludes participants of any other Group share incentive scheme. eligible employees 

will benefit from income and growth distributions made by the trust.

the trust is funded through interest free loans from the participating companies in the Group. these loans have been fair valued 

and imputed interest at 12% per annum is recognised over the expected loan period. Loans will be repaid through dividend flows 

and proceeds on the disposal of the underlying investments held by the trust.

the economic interest held by the trust in Group companies is set out below:

 2014 
%

 2013
% 

Afrisun Gauteng 3.5% 3.5%
emfuleni Resorts 3.5% 3.5%
SunWest 3.3% 3.3%
Meropa 3.5% 3.5%
teemane 3.5% 3.5%
Afrisun KZN 3.5% 3.5%
Mangaung Sun 3.5% 3.5%
Worcester 3.5% 3.5%
Sun International Limited – direct 2.5% 2.5%
 – indirect 2.8% 2.8%

Sun international Black Executive management Trust (SiBEmT)
As a further commitment to Bee and to assist Sun International in retaining black managerial 

staff, to attract new black talent and to contribute towards the creation of sustainable black 

leadership, a trust was formed for the benefit of current and future South African black 

management of the Group. permanent employees of the Sun International Group, who 

occupy management grade levels, and are black South Africans are eligible to participate in 

the SIBeMt.

the economic interest held by the trust in Group companies is set out below:

Sun International Limited – indirect 0.4% 0.4%
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34. tranSaCtIonS WItH non-ControllInG IntereStS

2014
the Group acquired an additional 0.1% and 0.7% in Afrisun Gauteng and teemane respectively for R3 million each in July 2013.

the Group purchased the remaining 23% interest in Afrisun Leisure Investments from WIp Gaming during August 2013 

for R120 million. this acquisition resulted in the Group's effective shareholding increasing in the following subsidiaries: 

SunWest +0.9%; Worcester +2.3%; Afrisun KZN +0.9%; Afrisun Gauteng +1.3%; Afrisun KZN Manco +3.3%; emfuleni +2.1% 

and Gauteng Casino Resorts Manco +11.2%.

During February 2014 the Group sold 3.7% of its shareholding in teemane for R4 million.

the effect of the above transactions is explained below.

Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiary 
July 2013

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired* –
Consideration paid to non-controlling interest  (6)

Movement in non-controlling interest   (6)

August 2013
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired 15
Consideration paid to non-controlling interest  (120)

Movement in non-controlling interest   (105)

Dilution in shareholding 

February 2014
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest sold* –
Consideration paid by minority 4

Movement in non-controlling interest 4

Net movement in non-controlling interest (107)

* Amounts are less than R1 million.

2013
In November 2012, Chilean enterprises exercised their option thereby taking up their unpaid share capital in SFI. this 

reduced SIL's shareholding by 1.86% to 42.41%. In April 2013, IGGR and Lasud decided not to take up their options. 

Novosun took up these options by converting their loans into share capital.  IGGR sold its shareholding in April 2013. the 

remaining shareholders took up these shares in proportion to their shareholding which resulted in SIL's effective 

shareholding increasing to 44.21%.

The effect of the above transactions is explained below.

Dilution in shareholding – November 2012
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest diluted (18)
Increase in NAV as a result of an increase in  Share capital in SFI 34

Movement in non-controlling interest 16

Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiary – April 2013
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired 52
Consideration paid to non-controlling interest  (73)

Movement in non-controlling interest   (21)

Net movement in non-controlling interest (5)
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35. CHanGeS In aCCountInG PolICIeS
the Group adopted IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’, IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’, IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of interests 

in other entities’, and consequential amendments to IAS 28, ‘Investments in associates and joint ventures’ and IAS 27, ‘Separate 

financial statements on the 1st of July 2013. the Group also adopted IAS 19 (revised 2011), ‘employee benefits’ on the same 

date. the accounting policies are applied retrospectively and had the following impact on the financial statements.

(a) Consolidation of an entity in which the Group holds less than 50%
In terms of IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ Dinokana proprietary Limited (“Dinokana”) is assessed to be a subsidiary 

of Sun International. this has resulted in the restatement of the 30 June 2013 results. Dinokana is now consolidated as a subsidiary 

whereas previously 49% of Dinokana was proportionately consolidated.

the effect of the restatement on the 30 June 2013 statement of financial position is as follows:

r million
As previously

reported
Consolidation

of Dinokana Restated

Non current borrowings 6 670 249 6 919
treasury shares (1 594) (187) (1 781)
Minorities interest 1 693 (61) 1 632
Cash and cash equivalents 1 023 1 1 024

the effect of the restatement on the 30 June 2013 statement of 
comprehensive income is as follows:
Interest expense (486) (19) (505)
profit for the year attributable to minorities 314 (19) 295

the effect of the restatement on the 30 June 2013 statement of cash flows is 
as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1 023 1 1 024

the consolidation of Dinokana has also resulted in a further 3 427 077 Sun International shares being recognised as treasury shares.

(b) Remeasurement of post employment benefit obligations

In terms of IAS 19R, ‘employee Benefits’, remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations should be included in other 

comprehensive income and no longer in profit and loss. the effect of the change on the 30 June 2013 statement of comprehensive 

income is as follows:

r million

As previously
reported/As 

restated above
effective
change Restated

employee benefits (2 256) (16) (2 272)
tax (477) 4 (473)
profit for the year attributable to minorities (as stated above in section (a)) 295 (2) 293

the effect of the above changes led to an increase in basic earnings per share of 17 cents.
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35. CHanGeS In aCCountInG PolICIeS
the Group adopted IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’, IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’, IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of interests 

in other entities’, and consequential amendments to IAS 28, ‘Investments in associates and joint ventures’ and IAS 27, ‘Separate 

financial statements on the 1st of July 2013. the Group also adopted IAS 19 (revised 2011), ‘employee benefits’ on the same 

date. the accounting policies are applied retrospectively and had the following impact on the financial statements.

(a) Consolidation of an entity in which the Group holds less than 50%
In terms of IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ Dinokana proprietary Limited (“Dinokana”) is assessed to be a subsidiary 

of Sun International. this has resulted in the restatement of the 30 June 2013 results. Dinokana is now consolidated as a subsidiary 

whereas previously 49% of Dinokana was proportionately consolidated.

the effect of the restatement on the 30 June 2013 statement of financial position is as follows:

r million
As previously

reported
Consolidation

of Dinokana Restated

Non current borrowings 6 670 249 6 919
treasury shares (1 594) (187) (1 781)
Minorities interest 1 693 (61) 1 632
Cash and cash equivalents 1 023 1 1 024

the effect of the restatement on the 30 June 2013 statement of 
comprehensive income is as follows:
Interest expense (486) (19) (505)
profit for the year attributable to minorities 314 (19) 295

the effect of the restatement on the 30 June 2013 statement of cash flows is 
as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1 023 1 1 024

the consolidation of Dinokana has also resulted in a further 3 427 077 Sun International shares being recognised as treasury shares.

(b) Remeasurement of post employment benefit obligations

In terms of IAS 19R, ‘employee Benefits’, remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations should be included in other 

comprehensive income and no longer in profit and loss. the effect of the change on the 30 June 2013 statement of comprehensive 

income is as follows:

r million

As previously
reported/As 

restated above
effective
change Restated

employee benefits (2 256) (16) (2 272)
tax (477) 4 (473)
profit for the year attributable to minorities (as stated above in section (a)) 295 (2) 293

the effect of the above changes led to an increase in basic earnings per share of 17 cents.

36. SuBSequent eVentS
the following events have taken place since 30 June 2014:

(i) During April 2014 public hearings were held in relation to the Group’s application to amend its Morula licence to allow the 
relocation of the licence to Menlyn Maine on the east side of pretoria. on the 31st of July 2014, the Gauteng Gambling Board 
(“GGB”) announced that the Group’s application had been approved thereby permitting the relocation of the casino from 
Mabopane to Menlyn. the approval is subject to conditions that are reflective of the commitments made in the application.

Detailed planning of the R3 billion development will now commence in conjunction with further engagement with the GGB to 
conclude detailed agreements for the amendment of the Morula licence conditions. the development is part of an R8 billion, 
315 000 m2 precinct of which R825 million is either already built or under construction. Sun International will provide the 
entertainment node which includes a 110 room five star hotel, 8 000 seat entertainment arena, convention and exhibition facility 
and a casino with 2 000 slot machines and 60 tables.

Notification has been received of certain legal objections to the proposed relocation and development and these are being 
addressed. once the amendments to the Morula licence are issued by the GGB and in the absence of any legal impediment the 
detailed planning and construction of the casino will commence and is anticipated to take approximately 36 months.

(ii) As announced on SeNS on 18 August 2014 Sun International has entered into agreements with Minor International pcl (“Minor”), 
a large global company with investments in hotels, restaurants and lifestyle brands, whereby Sun International will dispose of a 
significant portion of its African portfolio to Minor. the interests Sun International will dispose of and its shareholding pre and 
post the transaction are set out in the table below:

effective ownership

pre the
transaction % disposed

post the
transaction

Gaborone Sun 80% 80% 16%
Kalahari Sands 100% 80% 20%
Lesotho Sun and Maseru Sun 47% 80% 9%
Royal Swazi and ezulwini Sun 51% 80% 10%
Royal Livingstone and Zambezi Sun 100% 50% 50%

on conclusion of the transaction the Royal Livingstone and Zambezi Sun will be accounted for as a joint venture, Gaborone Sun 
and Kalahari Sands as associates and Lesotho Sun, Maseru Sun, Royal Swazi and ezulwini Sun as available-for-sale assets. the 
collective purchase consideration amounts to R664 million plus the face value of any shareholder loans.

Sun International will continue to manage the casino operations situated at each of the assets and Minor will assume day-to-day 
management responsibility for the hotel operations other than the Royal Livingstone and Zambezi Sun, which will be jointly 
managed under a joint venture arrangement. the agreements reached cater for a sharing of management fees, the marketing of 
the properties, and the provision by Sun International of support services. Starting with the existing African assets it is the 
intention of the alliance to explore other hotel and gaming opportunities in particular those that may arise in Africa and Asia.

the proposed transaction is subject to various regulatory approvals and the relevant submissions have been made.

(iii) the Group’s application for a casino licence in Cartagena, Colombia was approved by the Colombian gaming regulator on 28 July 
2014. this paves the way for the Group’s proposed casino, which forms part of a mixed use development in Cartagena. the 
casino, which will be developed at a cost of US$30 million, will have 310 slots machines and 16 tables. the Group will lease the 
casino component of the development which includes a 284 room, five star InterContinental hotel, convention centre, shops, 
theatres, apartments and offices. Whilst relatively small, this opportunity is viewed as a low risk entry into the very attractive 
Colombian market. We are starting to mobilise the construction company and expect the casino to open in 2015.
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36. SuBSequent eVentS continued

(iv) It was announced on 13 May 2014 that the Group has concluded a transaction which will see Grand parade Investments Limited 
(“GpI”) exit its investments in SunWest and Worcester. tsogo Sun Holdings Limited (“tsogo”) will acquire a 40% shareholding in 
both properties including the acquisition from Sun International of a 14.9% interest in each of SunWest and Worcester for a 
combined cash consideration of R635 million. GpI has, since inception, been the primary Bee stakeholder in SunWest and 
Worcester and wishes to monetise its stake in these assets in order to pursue other interests. tsogo has limited exposure to the 
Western Cape metropolitan markets and wishes to enhance its presence in this market. Sun International and GpI are of the 
considered view that tsogo is the only party that can provide similar Bee ownership credentials to that of GpI and furthermore 
tsogo has the financial capability to implement a transaction of this magnitude.

tsogo will have representation on the board of directors of SunWest and Worcester however it will have no operational 
responsibility or interaction as all operations will continue to be managed by Sun International Management Limited under each 
of its existing management contracts. 

the proposed transaction is subject to competition commission and gambling board approval and the relevant submissions have 
been made. Shareholders voted in favour of the transaction at the annual general meeting held on 22 August 2014.

(v) As announced on SeNS on 13 May 2014, Sun International will acquire up to a 70% interest in GpI Slots. GpI Slots is the holding 
company of GpI’s limited payout (“LpM”) gaming operations that own and operate LpMs. Given the fast growing nature of the 
LpM and eBt industry in South Africa and the negative impact thereof on the Group’s traditional casino business, a strategic 
decision was taken to look for opportunities to enter this space.

the acquisition will be made in three tranches with an initial acquisition of a 25.1% interest in GpI Slots for a cash consideration 
of R225 million plus 25.1% of the face value of shareholder loans. the Group has options to acquire a further 25% interest in 
one year’s time and an additional 20% one year thereafter.

the relevant submissions to the Competition Commission and gambling boards have been made. While the regulatory process 
may still take some time we expect all approvals to be received by November 2014. Shareholders voted in favour of the transaction 
at the general meeting held on 22 August 2014.
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Company statements of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June

R million Notes 2014 2013

Revenue   719   824 
Operational costs (17) (9)

Operating profit 1   702   815 
Foreign exchange profit 10 35 
Interest income 2   61   46 
Interest expense 3 (77) (80)

Profit before tax   696   816 
Tax 4 (3) (25)

Profit for the year   693   791 
Other comprehensive income  –   –  

Total comprensive income for the year   693   791
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R million Notes 2014 2013  

aSSetS
Non current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 6  3 864  3 755 
Loans and receivables 7   280   294 
Deferred tax 8   9  –  

 4 153  4 049 

Current assets
Loans and receivables 7  1 783  1 071 
Cash and cash equivalents   57   14 
Tax  –   –  

 1 840  1 085 

Total assets  5 993  5 134 

eQuItY anD lIaBIlItIeS
Capital and reserves
Ordinary shareholders’ equity  4 653  4 162 

 4 653  4 162 

Non current liabilities
Deferred tax 8  –    4 
Borrowings 10   974   681 
Other non current liability 11   80   30 

 1 054   715 

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 12   276   247 
Borrowings 10   2   9 
Tax   8   1 

  286   257 

Total liabilities  1 340   972 

Total equity and liabilities  5 993  5 134

Company statements of financial position
as at 30 June
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R million Notes 2014 2013

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated by operations 13.1 72 58
Tax paid 13.2 (9) (16)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 63 42

Cash flows from investing activities 
Increase in investment in SFIR (56)  –   
Investment income 13.3 784 871
Other non current investments and loans (made)/realised 13.4 (702) 123

Net cash inflow from investing activities 26 994

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase/(decrease) in borrowings 13.5 295 (714)
Interest paid 13.6 (86) (86)
Dividends paid 5 (255) (268)
Increase in share capital  –   32

Net cash outflow from financing activities (46) (1 036)

Net cash and cash equivalents movement for the year 43  –   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  14  14 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 57   14

Company statements of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June
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Company statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June

R million Note
Share

capital
Share

premium

Share based
payment

reserve
Retained
earnings Total equity

Balance at 30 June 2012   9   268   129  3 155  3 561 
Share issue   32   32 
employee share based payments   46  46 
Release of share based payment reserve (32)   32  -  
Total comprehensive income for the year 791   791 
Dividends paid 5 (268) (268)

Balance at 30 June 2013   9   300   143  3 710  4 162 
employee share based payments   53  53 
Release of share based payment reserve (14)   14  -   
Total comprehensive income for the year   693  693 
Dividends paid 5 (255) (255)

Balance at 30 June 2014   9   300   182  4 162  4 653
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Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 30 June

R million 2014 2013

1. oPeRatInG PRoFIt IS StateD aFteR tHe FolloWInG:
Revenue
 Dividend income   714   819 
 Guarantee fees   5   5 

Operating costs
 Directors fees (5) (5)
 Security Transfer Tax  –   (3)

2. InteReSt InCoMe
Interest earned on loans and receivables   67   50 
Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents   3   2 
Imputed interest on loans receivable (9) (6)

  61   46 

3. InteReSt eXPenSe
Interest paid on borrowings (61) (28)
preference share dividends (25) (58)
Imputed interest on V&A loan 9 6

(77) (80)

4. taX
Current tax – current year (16) (14)
 – prior year 1 (2)
Deferred tax – current year 13 (5)
Withholding tax (1) (4)

(3) (25)

Reconciliation of rate of tax
Standard rate – South African 28.0% 28.0%
Adjusted for:
 exempt income (29.0%) (28.1%)
 Disallowable expenses 1.4% 2.5%
 prior year (over)/under provision (0.1%) 0.2%
 Withholding tax 0.1% 0.5%

effective tax rate 0.4% 3.1%

5. DIVIDenDS PaID
A final dividend of 155 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2013 was declared on 

23 August 2013 and paid on 23 September 2013 (161)

An interim dividend of 90 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2014 was declared on 

21 February 2014 and paid on 24 March 2014 (94)

A final dividend of 150 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2012 was declared on 

24 August 2012 and paid on 25 September 2012 (155)

An interim dividend of 110 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2013 was declared on 

22 February 2013 and paid on 25 March 2013 (113)

(255) (268)

A final gross dividend of 155 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2014 was declared on 22 August 2014 and paid on 

22 September 2014. The Company has no STC credits available and these dividends are therefore subject to the 15% withholding 

tax, resulting in a net dividend of 131.75 cents per share.
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R million 2014 2013

6. InVeStMentS In SuBSIDIaRIeS
Shares at cost
Balance at beginning of year  3 755  3 663 
Additional investment in SFIR   56   46 
employee share based payments   53   46 

Balance at end of year  3 864  3 755 

The interests of the Company in the aggregate pre tax net profits and losses of its subsidiaries 

amounted to R1 363 million (2013: R1 196 million) and R104 million (2013: R32 million) 

respectively and post tax net profits and losses of its subsidiaries amounted to R1 039 million 

(2013: R822 million) and R103 million (2013: R47 million) respectively.

7. loanS anD ReCeIVaBleS
Loans
 Share incentive schemes   154   125 
 Loan to Group company   1   1 
 Loans to subsidiaries  2 329  1 660 

 2 484  1 786 
Less: Impairment of loans to subsidiaries (421) (421)

2 063 1 365 
Current portion (1 783) (1 071)

 280  294 

Loans are due over the following periods:
 Less than 1 year  1 783  1 071 
 4 years and onwards   280   294 

 2 063  1 365 

The weighted average interest and dividend rates were as follows:
 Share incentive schemes NIB NIB
 Loans to subsidiaries 3.1% 2.5%
 Other NIB  NIB 

Weighted average 3.1% 2.5%

NIB – Non interest bearing

The carrying amounts of the loans to subsidiaries are denominated in the following currencies:
 US Dollar 766 –
 Chilean pesos – 49
 Nigerian Naira 192 172
 South African Rand 1 371 1 439

2 329 1 660

Other than the impaired loans, the loans are fully performing with the associated credit risk 

considered to be low.

The fair value of loans and receivables approximates their carrying value.

The loans and receivables are classified as level 3 financial instruments and there have been no 

changes or transfers between levels during the year.
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R million 2014 2013

8. DeFeRReD taX
Balance at beginning of year 4 (1)
Statement of comprehensive income (credit)/charge for the year (13) 5

Balance at end of year (9) 4

Deferred tax arises from the following temporary differences:

Deferred tax assets
Fair value adjustments (12) (12)

 Balance at beginning of year (12) (1)
 Reclassification to deferred tax liability (fair value adjustments)  –   (11)

To be recovered after more than 12 months (12) (12)

(12) (12)

Deferred tax liabilities
Doubtful debts and prepayments 3 16

 Balance at beginning of year 16  –   
 (Credited)/charged to statement of comprehensive income (13) 5
 Reclassification from deferred tax asset (fair value adjustments)  –   11

To be recovered after more than 12 months 3 16

3 16

Net deferred tax (asset)/liability (9) 4

9. SHaRe CaPItal anD PReMIuM
Authorised
150 000 000 (2013:150 000 000) ordinary shares of 8 cents each   12   12 
100 000 000 (2013:100 000 000) variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares 

of 1 cent each   1   1 

Issued*
Share capital   9   9 
Share premium   300   300 

  309   309 

* the issued preference shares have been included in borrowings in note 10.

1 875 517 shares in the unissued share capital of the Company remain under the control of the 

directors as a specific authority in terms of section 38(1) of the Companies Act to allot and issue 

in accordance with the share option scheme. 10 780 000 shares were placed under the specific 

control of the directors to allot and issue in accordance with the eGp and BSMp.

2014 2013

Number
of shares Rm

Number
of shares Rm

Movement during the year
Balance at beginning of year 114 129 455  309 113 487 165  277 
exercised treasury share options  –   –    642 290  32 

Statutory shares in issue at end of year 114 129 455   309 114 129 455   309 

annual FInanCIal StateMentS NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUeD
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R million 2014 2013

10. BoRRoWInGS
Non current
 Redeemable preference shares  –    417 
 Term Facility   719  –  
 V&A loan   255   264 

  974   681 

Current
 Overdraft   2   9 

Total borrowings   976   690 

All borrowings are unsecured.

The fair value of borrowings approximate their carrying values except for the V&A loan which 

has a fair value of  R245 million (2013: R258 million). The fair value has been determined on 

a discounted cash flow basis using a discount rate of 9% (2013: 9%).

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in Rand.
The borrowings are repayable over the following periods:
 Less than 6 months   2  9 
 6 months – 1 year  –   –   
 1 – 2 years   176  –   
 2 – 3 years   185   417 
 3 – 4 years   114  –  
 4 years and onwards   499  264 

  976  690 

The following are the contractual undiscounted maturities of financial liabilities (including principal and interest payments) 

presented in Rands:

R million

On demand
or not

exceeding
6 months

More than
6 months

but not
exceeding

1 year

More than
1 year

but not
exceeding

2 years

More than
2 years
but not

exceeding
5 years

More than
5 years

2014
Borrowings 30 30 239 570 526
Bank overdraft 2 – – – –
Accounts payable and accruals 276 – – – –

308 30 239 570 526

2013
Borrowings 29 29 60 538 401 
Bank overdraft   9  –   –   –   –  
Accounts payable and accruals 247  –   –   –   –  

  285   29   60   538   401
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10. BoRRoWInGS continued

R million 2014 2013

Interest rates
Year end interest and dividend rates as follows:
 Redeemable preference shares – 6.5%
 Term facilities 3.6%  –   
 V&A loan 8.3% 8.3%
 Overdraft 7.0% 6.5%

Weighted average 6.0% 6.4%

As at 30 June 2014, interest rates on 78% (2013: 38%) of the Company’s borrowings were 

fixed. 100% (2013: 100%) of these fixed borrowings were for periods longer than 12 months.  

The interest rates other than on the V&A loan, approximate those currently available to the 

Group in the market.

A change of 1% in interest rates at the reporting date would have (decreased)/increased profit 

before tax by the amounts shown below.  This analysis assumes that all other variables remain 

constant.  The analysis is performed on the same basis as for 2013.

Increase of 1% (4) (8)
Decrease of 1%   4   8

A register of non current loans is available for inspection at the registered office of the Company.
The Company’s borrowings are not restricted by its memorandum of incorporation.

11. otHeR non CuRRent lIaBIlItIeS
FeC liability 55  –   
emfuleni guarantee fee liability 25 30

80 30

The FeC is classified as a level 2 financial instrument.

12. aCCountS PaYaBle anD aCCRualS
Financial instruments
Accrued expenses 38 43
Loan from subsidiary 229 188
Other payables 9 16

276 247

The fair value of accounts payable and accruals approximate their carrying value.

annual FInanCIal StateMentS NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUeD
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R million 2014 2013

13. CaSH FloW InFoRMatIon
13.1 Cash generated by operations

Operating profit   702  815 
Non cash items and items dealt with separately:
 Movement in FeC liability   55  – 
 Dividend income (714)  (819)

Cash utilised by operations before working capital changes 43  (4)
Working capital changes
 Accounts receivable  –   44
 Accounts payable and accruals 29  18 

72  58 

13.2 Tax paid
(Liability)/asset at beginning of year (1)   3 
Current year tax charged to statements of comprehensive income (refer note 4) (16) (14)
prior year tax charged to statements of comprehensive income (refer note 4) 1 (2)
Withholding tax (1) (4)
Liability at end of year 8 1

(9) (16)

13.3 Investment income
Dividends received   714   819 
Interest income   61   46 
Imputed interest on loans receivable   9 6

  784   871 

13.4 Other non current investments and loans (made)/realised
(Increase)/decrease in loans to subsidiaries (673) 127
Increase in share incentive schemes (29) (4)

(702)   123 

13.5 Increase/(decrease) in borrowings
Increase/(decrease) in non current borrowings 293 (700)
Imputed interest on V&A loan 9 6
Increase in bank overdraft (7) (20)

  295 (714)

13.6 Interest paid
Interest expense (77) (80)
Imputed interest on V&A loan  (9)  (6)

(86) (86)

14. ContInGent lIaBIlItY
The Company has guaranteed borrowing facilities of various subsidiaries in which the Company has less than 100% 

shareholding. The Company has therefore effectively underwritten the minorities’ share of these facilities in the amount of 

R199 million at 30 June 2014 (June 2013: R240 million).

Sun International Limited has issued a guarantee in favour of Nedbank Limited in respect of the loan facilities entered into with 

Dinokana proprietary Limited up to the maximum amount of R60 million.
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R million 2014 2013

15. RelateD PaRtY
The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

(i) Intercompany receivable
Sun International Limited has issued a guarantee in favour of Nedbank Limited in respect of 

facilities entered into with emfuleni Resorts (pty) Ltd up to a maximum of R700 million. A 

liability was raised in the prior year (refer to note 11). A corresponding intercompany receivable 

was raised with emfuleni (pty) Ltd and interest was charged at 8.9% per annum on this 

balance. The movement on the intercompany balance for the year is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year  29  42 
Interest income accrued for the year under review  2  2 
Fair value adjustment 3 (5)
Repayments during the year (9) (10)

Balance at end of the year  25  29 

(ii) Loans to related parties
Loan to Dinokana:
Balance at beginning of the year  1  –   
Loans advanced during the year  –    1 

Balance at end of the year  1  1 

The loan is interest free and has no fixed repayment terms.

Loan to Ocean Sun Casino:
Loans advanced during the year   766  –   

Balance at end of the year  766  –   

The loan is interest free and has no fixed repayment terms.

Loan to Kalahari Sands:
Balance at beginning of the year 13   20 
Loans advanced during the year   5  –   
Interest for the year   1   1 
Repayments made during the year (17) (8)

Balance at end of the year   2   13 

The loan bears interest at prime less 1% and has no fixed repayment terms.

Loan to SFIR:
Balance at beginning of the year  49  105 
Capitalised to investment in subsidiary (56) (46)
Interest for the year  –    8 
Revaluation of loan  –    6 
Reversal of withholding taxes 7  –   
Repayments made during the year  –   (24)

Balance at end of the year  –     49 

Loan to Sun International Investments No 2:
Balance at beginning of the year  1 115  1 115 
Sale of treasury shares (39)  –   

Balance at end of the year  1 076  1 115 

The loan is interest free and has no fixed repayment terms.

Loan to SI Lesotho:
Balance at beginning of the year  12  21 
Interest for the year   1   1 
Repayments made during the year  –   (10)

Balance at end of the year  13   12 

The loan bears interest at prime less 1% and has no fixed repayment terms.

annual FInanCIal StateMentS NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUeD
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R million 2014 2013

15. RelateD PaRtY continued
(ii) Loans to related parties continued

Loan to Sun International Travel Proprietary Limited:
Balance at beginning of the year  5  5 
Write off of loan (5)

Balance at end of the year  –     5 

The loan was written off at 30 June 2014 due to the sale of the Company’s investment 
in this subsidiary.

Loan to Sunwest:
Balance at beginning of the year  265  270 
Fair value adjustment (10) (5)

Balance at end of the year  255   265 

The loan is interest free and is repayable in May 2022.

Loan to TCN:
Balance at beginning of the year  172  137 
Interest for the year   9   7 
Revaluation of loan   11   28 

Balance at end of the year  192   172 

The loan bears interest at 5% and has no fixed repayment terms.

(iii) Sale of subsidiary to related party
The Company sold its investment in Sun International Travel proprietary Limited at 30 June 2014 to a company in which 
Ms ZBM Bassa, who serves as a non-executive director on the SIL Board, has an interest.

16. SuBSeQuent eVentS
There were no material events subsequent to year end.
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Interest in principal subsidiaries
for the year ended 30 June

Notes
Country of 
incorporation

Amount
of issued

capital
2014

R000’s

Amount
of issued

capital
2013

R000’s

effective holding*

Interest of holding company

Shares Indebtedness

2014
%

2013
%

2014
Rm

2013
Rm

2014
Rm

2013
Rm

SuBSIDIaRIeS
Unlisted
Afrisun Gauteng (pty) Limited South Africa  188  188 91 91  –    –    –   –  
Afrisun KZN (pty) Limited South Africa  133  133 62 61  –    –    –    –   
Afrisun KZN Manco (pty) Ltd South Africa  1  1 39 36  –    –    –    –   
Afrisun Leisure Investments (pty) Limited South Africa  54  54 100 77  –    –    –    –   
emfuleni Casino Resorts Manco (pty) Limited 1 South Africa  –    –    –   45  –    –    –    –   
emfuleni Resorts (pty) Limited 2 South Africa  85  85 82 80  –    –     25   29 
Gauteng Casino Resort Manco (pty) Limited South Africa  –    1 68 56  –    –    –    –   
Kimberley Casino Resort Manco (pty) Limited South Africa  –    –   50 50  –    –    –    –   
Mahogony Rose Investments 46 (pty) Limited South Africa  –    –   100 100  –    –    –    –   
Main Street 703 (pty) Ltd South Africa  –    –   100 100  –    –    –    –   
Mangaung Casino Resort Manco (pty) Limited South Africa  1  1 50 50  –    –    –    –   
Mangaung Sun (pty) Limited South Africa  134  134 70 70  –    –    –    –   
Meropa Casino Resort Manco (pty) Limited South Africa  1  1 50 50  –    –    –    –   
Meropa Leisure and entertainment (pty) Limited South Africa  38  38 68 68  –    –    –    –   
National Casino Resort Manco Holdings (pty) Limited South Africa  2  2 83 83   14   14  –    –   
Ocean Club Casino Inc panama  –    –   100  –    –   –    766  –   
powerbet Gaming (pty) Ltd South Africa  –    –   100  –    –   –   –    –   
Real Africa Holdings Limited South Africa  3 718  3 718 100 100  –    –    –    –   
Royale Resorts Holdings Limited 3 Bermuda  737  737 73 73  –    –    –    –   
Sands Hotels Holdings (Namibia) (pty) Limited Namibia  1  1 100 100  –    –     2   13 
SFI Resorts SA 4 Chile  89 567  89 567 44 44   842   786  –    49 
Sun Casinos Colombia Colombia  –    –   100  –    –    –   – –
Sun International Investments No. 2 Limited South Africa  –    –   100 100  –    –    1 076  1 115 
Sun International of Lesotho (pty) Limited Lesotho  1  1 47 47  –    –     13   12 
Sun International (South Africa) Limited South Africa  35 261  35 261 100 100  1 760  1 760  –   –  
Sun International (Botswana) (pty) Limited 5 Botswana  500  500 80 80  –    –    –    –   
Sun International (Zambia) Limited 3 Zambia  3 750  3 750 100 100  –    –    –    –   
Sun International Inc 6 panama  1 580  1 580 100 100   687   687  –   –  
Sun International Management Limited 6 Bermuda  449  449 100 100   339   286  –   –  
Sun International Travel (pty) Limited 7 South Africa –  –   – 100 –  –   –   5 
SunWest International (pty) Limited South Africa  337  337 72 71  –    –     255   265 
Teemane (pty) Limited South Africa  28  28 72 74  –    –    –    –   
Tourist Company of Nigeria plc 8 Nigeria  4 478  4 478 49 49   222   222   192   172 
Transkei Sun International Limited South Africa  14 495  14 495 70 70  –    –    –    –   
Western Cape Casino Resort Manco (pty) Limited 1 South Africa  –    –    –   34  –    –    –    –   
Winelands Casino Manco (pty) Limited South Africa  –    –   50 50  –    –    –    –   
Worcester Casino (pty) Limited South Africa  2  2 71 69  –    –    –    –   

Listed
Swazispa Holdings Limited Swaziland  3 497  3 497 51 51  –    –    –    –   

 3 864  3 755  2 329  1 660 

1. this company has been deregistered.
2. this includes the effective 19% holding which was sold as a part of the emfuleni licence bid.
3. amount of share capital is stated in uS$.
4. amount of share capital stated in Chilean Pesos (millions).
5. amount of share capital stated in Botswana Pula.
6. Registered as an external company in South africa.
7. Disposed off as at 30 June 2014.
8. amount of share capital stated in nigerian naira.
* excludes employee Share trusts.
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Notes
Country of 
incorporation

Amount
of issued

capital
2014

R000’s

Amount
of issued

capital
2013

R000’s

effective holding*

Interest of holding company

Shares Indebtedness

2014
%

2013
%

2014
Rm

2013
Rm

2014
Rm

2013
Rm

SuBSIDIaRIeS
Unlisted
Afrisun Gauteng (pty) Limited South Africa  188  188 91 91  –    –    –   –  
Afrisun KZN (pty) Limited South Africa  133  133 62 61  –    –    –    –   
Afrisun KZN Manco (pty) Ltd South Africa  1  1 39 36  –    –    –    –   
Afrisun Leisure Investments (pty) Limited South Africa  54  54 100 77  –    –    –    –   
emfuleni Casino Resorts Manco (pty) Limited 1 South Africa  –    –    –   45  –    –    –    –   
emfuleni Resorts (pty) Limited 2 South Africa  85  85 82 80  –    –     25   29 
Gauteng Casino Resort Manco (pty) Limited South Africa  –    1 68 56  –    –    –    –   
Kimberley Casino Resort Manco (pty) Limited South Africa  –    –   50 50  –    –    –    –   
Mahogony Rose Investments 46 (pty) Limited South Africa  –    –   100 100  –    –    –    –   
Main Street 703 (pty) Ltd South Africa  –    –   100 100  –    –    –    –   
Mangaung Casino Resort Manco (pty) Limited South Africa  1  1 50 50  –    –    –    –   
Mangaung Sun (pty) Limited South Africa  134  134 70 70  –    –    –    –   
Meropa Casino Resort Manco (pty) Limited South Africa  1  1 50 50  –    –    –    –   
Meropa Leisure and entertainment (pty) Limited South Africa  38  38 68 68  –    –    –    –   
National Casino Resort Manco Holdings (pty) Limited South Africa  2  2 83 83   14   14  –    –   
Ocean Club Casino Inc panama  –    –   100  –    –   –    766  –   
powerbet Gaming (pty) Ltd South Africa  –    –   100  –    –   –   –    –   
Real Africa Holdings Limited South Africa  3 718  3 718 100 100  –    –    –    –   
Royale Resorts Holdings Limited 3 Bermuda  737  737 73 73  –    –    –    –   
Sands Hotels Holdings (Namibia) (pty) Limited Namibia  1  1 100 100  –    –     2   13 
SFI Resorts SA 4 Chile  89 567  89 567 44 44   842   786  –    49 
Sun Casinos Colombia Colombia  –    –   100  –    –    –   – –
Sun International Investments No. 2 Limited South Africa  –    –   100 100  –    –    1 076  1 115 
Sun International of Lesotho (pty) Limited Lesotho  1  1 47 47  –    –     13   12 
Sun International (South Africa) Limited South Africa  35 261  35 261 100 100  1 760  1 760  –   –  
Sun International (Botswana) (pty) Limited 5 Botswana  500  500 80 80  –    –    –    –   
Sun International (Zambia) Limited 3 Zambia  3 750  3 750 100 100  –    –    –    –   
Sun International Inc 6 panama  1 580  1 580 100 100   687   687  –   –  
Sun International Management Limited 6 Bermuda  449  449 100 100   339   286  –   –  
Sun International Travel (pty) Limited 7 South Africa –  –   – 100 –  –   –   5 
SunWest International (pty) Limited South Africa  337  337 72 71  –    –     255   265 
Teemane (pty) Limited South Africa  28  28 72 74  –    –    –    –   
Tourist Company of Nigeria plc 8 Nigeria  4 478  4 478 49 49   222   222   192   172 
Transkei Sun International Limited South Africa  14 495  14 495 70 70  –    –    –    –   
Western Cape Casino Resort Manco (pty) Limited 1 South Africa  –    –    –   34  –    –    –    –   
Winelands Casino Manco (pty) Limited South Africa  –    –   50 50  –    –    –    –   
Worcester Casino (pty) Limited South Africa  2  2 71 69  –    –    –    –   

Listed
Swazispa Holdings Limited Swaziland  3 497  3 497 51 51  –    –    –    –   

 3 864  3 755  2 329  1 660 

1. this company has been deregistered.
2. this includes the effective 19% holding which was sold as a part of the emfuleni licence bid.
3. amount of share capital is stated in uS$.
4. amount of share capital stated in Chilean Pesos (millions).
5. amount of share capital stated in Botswana Pula.
6. Registered as an external company in South africa.
7. Disposed off as at 30 June 2014.
8. amount of share capital stated in nigerian naira.
* excludes employee Share trusts.
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The principal accounting policies adopted in preparation of these 

financial statements are set out below:

BaSIS oF PRePaRatIon
All policies stated in the consolidated financial statements relate to 

the Group and the companies within the Group. The consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 were 

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS), the SAICA Financial Reporting guides as issued 

by the Accounting practices Committee, Financial Reporting 

pronouncements (FRp) as issued by the Financial Reporting 

Standards Council (FRSC) and the interpretations issued by the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 

(IFRIC), effective at the time of preparing these financial statements 

and in compliance with the JSe Listings Requirements and the 

Companies Act of South Africa.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical 

cost convention except as disclosed in the accounting policies 

below. The policies used in preparing the financial statements 

are consistent with those of the previous year except as indicated 

in the paragraph on ‘Accounting policy developments’.

preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date 

of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 

and expenses during the reporting period. More detail on these 

estimates and assumptions are included under the policy dealing 

with ‘Critical accounting estimates and judgements’. Actual 

results may differ from those estimates.

GRouP aCCountInG
Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are those entities (including structured entities) over 

which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when 

the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 

its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the entity. The existence and 

effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 

convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group 

controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is 

transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from 

the date that control ceases. 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the 

acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition 

is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments 

issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 

assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their 

fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of 

any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition 

over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net 

assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition 

is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 

acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the statement 

of comprehensive income.

The Group recognises any minority interest in the acquiree on 

an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the 

minority’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the 

acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is 

recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 

changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is 

deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance 

with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other 

comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified 

as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is 

accounted for within equity.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 

transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised 

losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence 

of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 

subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the 

policies adopted by the Group.

The company accounts for subsidiary undertakings at cost less 

impairments.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries 
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in 

loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is, 

as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The 

difference between the fair value of any consideration paid and 

the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of 

the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals 

to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in 

the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when 

control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in 

profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the 

purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as 

an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any 

amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 

in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had 

directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may 

mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income are reclassified to profit or loss.

IntanGIBle aSSetS
Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over 

the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the acquired 

subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of 

subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Separately recognised 

goodwill is assessed for impairment on an annual basis or more 

frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential 

impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the 

Accounting policies
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recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the 

fair value less costs of disposal. Goodwill is carried at cost less 

accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill 

are not reversed. The calculation of gains and losses on the 

disposal of an entity includes the carrying amount of goodwill 

relating to the entity sold. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose 

of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash 

generating units or Groups of cash generating units that are 

expected to benefit from the business combination in which the 

goodwill arose. 

Other intangible assets

Indefinite life intangible assets are not amortised and are assessed 

annually for impairment.

expenditure on leasehold premiums anticipated, successful gaming 

licence bids, computer software and acquired management 

contracts are capitalised and amortised using the straight line 

method as follows:

Leasehold premiums Lease period
Gaming licence bids period of the licence and/or up 

to a maximum of 20 years
Management contracts period of initial contract
Computer software 4 years

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software 

programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. However, 

costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique 

software products controlled by the company and which have 

probable economic benefits exceeding the costs beyond one 

year are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include staff 

costs of the software development team and an appropriate 

portion of the relevant overheads. expenditure meeting the 

definition of an asset is recognised as a capital improvement 

and added to the original cost of the asset.

Bid costs on gaming licence bids are capitalised, when it is highly 

probable that the bid will be successful, and subsequently 

amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives, 

but not exceeding 20 years. Intangible assets are not revalued.

FoReIGn CuRRenCY tRanSlatIon
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 

entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in South 

African Rands which is the Group’s presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 

the rate of exchange ruling on the transaction date. Monetary 

items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 

rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Gains 

or losses arising on translation are credited to or charged to the 

statements of comprehensive income.

Foreign entities

The financial statements of foreign entities that have a functional 

currency different from the presentation currency are translated 

into South African Rands as follows:

•	 Assets and liabilities, at exchange rates ruling at the last day of 

the reporting period.
•	 Income, expenditure and cash flow items at average exchange 

rates.
•	 premiums on transactions with minorities and fair value 

adjustments arising from the acquisition of a foreign entity are 

reported using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

All resulting exchange differences are reflected as part of other 

comprehensive income. On disposal, such translation differences 

are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as 

part of the cumulative gain or loss on disposal.

PRoPeRtY, Plant anD eQuIPMent
Freehold land is included at cost and not depreciated.

All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at 

cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the items. Depreciation is 

recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets 

(other than freehold land) less the residual values over their 

useful life, using the straight-line method. The principal useful 

lives over which the assets are depreciated are as follows:

Freehold and leasehold buildings 15 to 50 years

Infrastructure 5 to 50 years

plant and machinery 10 to 25 years

equipment 4 to 15 years

Furniture and fittings 5 to 10 years

Vehicles 4 to 15 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually, 

and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of financial 

position date.

Operating equipment (which includes uniforms, casino chips, 

kitchen utensils, crockery, cutlery and linen) is recognised as an 

expense based on usage. The period of usage depends on the 

nature of the operating equipment and varies between one to 

three years.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the 

proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income. 

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their 

expected useful lives on the same basis as the owned assets 

or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.
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When the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its 

estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to 

its recoverable amount.

Costs arising subsequent to the acquisition of an asset are included 

in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 

as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic 

benefits associated with the item will flow to the company 

and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 

amount of the replaced part is then derecognised. All other 

repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the statement of 

comprehensive income during the financial period in which they 

are incurred.

General and specific borrowing costs and certain direct costs 

directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 

of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a 

substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use are 

added to the cost of those assets, until such a time as the assets 

are substantially ready for their intended use.

Borrowing costs and certain direct costs relating to major capital 

projects are capitalised during the period of development or 

construction.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific 

borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in the 

period which they are incurred.

IMPaIRMent oF non-FInanCIal aSSetS
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to 

depreciation or amortisation and are tested annually for 

impairment. Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation 

are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 

recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 

by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 

value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of 

assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 

which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash 

generating units).

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an 

impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment 

at each reporting period.

PRe-oPenInG eXPenDItuRe
pre-opening expenditure is charged directly against income and 

separately disclosed. These costs include all marketing, operating 

and training expenses incurred prior to the opening of a new 

hotel or casino development.

InVentoRY
Inventory comprises of merchandise and consumables and is 

valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a first-in, 

first-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 

in the ordinary course of business less any costs necessary to 

make the sale.

CaSH anD CaSH eQuIValentS
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of 

financial position at fair value. Cash and cash equivalents 

comprise cash on hand and deposits held on call with banks. In 

the statement of financial position and statement of cash flows 

bank overdrafts are included within borrowings in current 

liabilities where appropriate.

tRaDe ReCeIVaBleS
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise 

sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If 

collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as 

current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method, less provision for impairment.

tRaDe PaYaBleS
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that 

have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from 

suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if 

payment is due within one year or less. If not they are presented 

as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method.

FInanCIal InStRuMentS
Financial instruments carried at statement of financial position 

date include loans and receivables, accounts receivable, available-

for-sale investments, cash and cash equivalents, borrowings and 

accounts payable and accruals.

Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, 

for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, any directly 

attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition 

financial instruments are measured as described below.

The fair value of publicly traded derivatives is based on quoted 

market prices at the financial reporting date. The effective value 

of the interest rate cross currency swaps is calculated at the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows. The fair value 

of foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward 

exchange market rates at the financial reporting date. Appropriate 

market related rates are used to fair value long term borrowings. 

Other techniques, such as the discounted value of estimated 

future cash flows, are used to determine the fair value for the 

remaining financial instruments.

FInanCIal aSSetS
The classification of financial assets depends on the purpose for 

which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines 

the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

The financial assets carried at statement of financial position 

date are classified as ‘Loans and receivables’ and ‘Available-for-

sale investments’.

All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the 

trade date, which is the date that the Group commits to purchase 

or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights 

annual FInanCIal StateMentS ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUeD
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to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 

have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially 

all risks and rewards of ownership.

The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date 

whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a 

group of financial assets is impaired. A provision for impairment 

is established where there is objective evidence that the Group 

will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 

original terms of the loans or receivables. Significant financial 

difficulties of the counterparty, and default or delinquency in 

payments are considered indicators that the loan or receivable is 

impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 

future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 

rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 

use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. When a 

loan or receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the 

allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 

written off are credited in the statement of comprehensive income.

In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a 

significant or prolonged decline in fair value of a financial asset 

below its cost is considered an indicator that the asset is 

impaired. If any such evidence exists the cumulative loss 

(measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and 

the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial 

asset previously recognised in profit or loss) is recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income. Impairment losses are not 

reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.

loanS anD ReCeIVaBleS

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 

fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market. They are classified as non-current assets unless receipt is 

anticipated within 12 months in which case the amounts are 

included in current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables 

comprise ‘Loans and receivables’, ‘Accounts receivable’ (excluding 

VAT and prepayments) and ‘Cash and cash equivalents’.

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are 

carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 

less any impairment.

aVaIlaBle-FoR-Sale FInanCIal aSSetS

Available-for-sale investments are financial assets specifically 

designated as available-for-sale or not classified in any other 

categories available under financial assets. These are included 

in non-current assets unless management has expressed the 

intention of holding the investment for less than 12 months 

from the statement of financial position date, in which case they 

are included in current assets.

Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value. Unrealised 

gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of 

available-for-sale investments are recognised in other comprehensive 

income in the period in which they arise. When securities classified 

as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair 

value adjustments recognised in equity are transferred to the 

statement of comprehensive income.

Subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale investments 

are carried at fair value, less any impairment.

IFRS 13 requires disclosure of the fair value measurements by 

level of the fair value measurements hierarchy:

•	 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

assets and liabilities (level 1);
•	 Inputs other than quoted prices included with level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 

prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2);
•	 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 

market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities at statement of financial position 

date include ‘Borrowings’ and ‘Accounts payable and accruals’ 

(excluding VAT and employee related payables). These financial 

liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. Financial liabilities are included in 

current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right 

to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 

the statement of financial position date.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, primarily foreign 

exchange contracts and interest rate cross currency swaps to 

hedge its risks associated with foreign currency and interest rate 

fluctuations relating to certain firm commitments and forecasted 

transactions. These derivatives are initially measured at fair value 

on the contract date, and are remeasured to fair value at 

subsequent reporting dates. The resulting gain or loss is 

recognised in profit or loss as it arises unless the derivative is 

designated and effective as a hedging instrument. The Group 

designates certain derivatives as either hedges of the fair value 

of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value 

hedges), hedges of highly probable forecast transactions, 

hedges of foreign currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow 

hedges) or hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

Cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that 

are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are 

recognised directly in other comprehensive income. The ineffective 

portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the 

respective line items. Amounts deferred to the hedging reserves 

are recognised through profit and loss in the same period in 

which the hedged item affects profit and loss. Hedge accounting 

is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 

terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge 

accounting. At that time, for forecast transactions, any cumulative 

gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is 

retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a 

hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net 

cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is transferred to 

profit or loss for the period.
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Forward contract over non-controlling interest

A forward purchase contract is a contract that specifies that 

the parent will acquire the minority shareholding at a date in 

the future at a price with no ability for either party to avoid 

the transaction.

The ownership risk and rewards of the shares relating to the 

forwards should be analysed to determine whether they 

remain with the minority or have transferred to the parent.

The minority is recognised to the extent that the risks and 

rewards relating to ownership remain with them.

The terms of the forward contract should be analysed to 

assess whether they provide the parent with access to the 

economic benefits and risks associated with the actual 

ownership of the shares during the contract period. 

The minority interest is derecognised to the extent that the 

risks and rewards relating to ownership no longer remain with 

the outside shareholders.

Irrespective of whether the minority interest is recognised, a 

financial liability is recorded to reflect the forward. The liability 

is recognised for the present value of the forward price. All 

subsequent changes to the liability are recognised in profit 

and loss.

CuRRent anD DeFeRReD taX
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred 

tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 

directly in equity.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, for all 

temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. 

Current tax and deferred tax are calculated on the basis of the 

tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of 

financial position date.

Deferred tax assets relating to the carry forward of unused tax 

losses are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax 

losses can be utilised in the foreseeable future.

leaSeS
Leases of assets where the company assumes substantially all the 

benefits and risks of ownership are classified as finance leases. 

Finance leases are capitalised at commencement and are 

measured at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and 

the present value of minimum lease payments. each lease 

payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges 

so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance 

outstanding. The corresponding lease obligations, net of finance 

charges, are included in borrowings. The interest element of the 

lease payment is charged to the statement of comprehensive 

income over the lease period. The assets acquired under finance 

leasing contracts are depreciated over the shorter of the useful 

life of the asset, or the lease period. Where a lease has an option 

to be renewed, the renewal period is considered when the 

period over which the asset will be depreciated is determined.

Leases of assets under which substantially all the risks and 

benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are 

classified as operating leases. payments made under operating 

leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income 

on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period 

has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by 

way of a penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in 

which termination takes place.

BoRRoWInGS
Borrowings, net of transaction costs, are recognised initially at 

fair value. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method; any difference between 

proceeds and the redemption value is recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income over the period of the 

borrowing using the effective interest rate method.

preference shares, which are redeemable on a specific date or at 

the option of the shareholder or which carry non-discretionary 

dividend obligations, are classified as borrowings. The dividends 

on these preference shares are recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income as interest expense. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the company 

has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 

at least 12 months after the statement of financial position date.

eMPloYee BeneFItS
Defined benefit scheme

The Group operates a closed defined benefit pension scheme. 

The defined benefit pension scheme is funded through payments 

to a trustee-administered fund, determined by reference to 

periodic actuarial calculations. The defined benefit plan defines 

an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on 

retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as 

age, years of service and compensation.

The asset or liability, as applicable, recognised in the statement 

of financial position in respect of the defined benefit pension 

plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 

end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The 

defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent 

actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present 

value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 

discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest 

rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency 

in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to 

maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments 

and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in other 

comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Interest costs and past service costs are recognised immediately 

in profit and loss.
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Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes. 

The defined contribution plans are provident funds under which 

the Group pays fixed contributions into separate entities. The 

contributions are recognised as an employee benefit expense 

when they are due. The Group has no legal or constructive 

obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 

sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to 

employee service in the current and prior periods.

Post-retirement medical aid contributions

The Group provides limited post-retirement healthcare benefits 

to eligible employees. The entitlement to these benefits is usually 

conditional upon the employee remaining in service up to 

retirement age and the employee must have joined the Group 

before 30 June 2003. The expected costs of these benefits are 

accrued over the period of employment using the same 

accounting methodology as used for defined benefit pension 

plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 

adjustments, and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised 

in other comprehensive income. These obligations are valued 

annually by independent qualified actuaries.

Share based payments

The Group operates equity settled, share based compensation 

plans. The fair value of the services received in exchange for 

awards made is recognised as an expense. The total amount to 

be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference 

to the fair value of the grants, excluding the impact of any non-

market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are 

included in assumptions about the number of awards that are 

expected to become exercisable. At the end of each reporting 

period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of awards 

that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision 

of original estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive 

income, and a corresponding adjustment to equity over the 

remaining vesting period.

Long Service Awards

The Group pays its employees a long service benefit after each 

five year period of continuous service. The benefit is paid in the 

month the employee reaches the milestone. The method of 

accounting and frequency of valuation are similar to those under 

the defined benefit schemes. The actuarial valuation to determine 

the liability is performed annually.

Farewell Gifts

The Group pays for a farewell gift for employees, with a 

minimum of a ten year service with the Group, who leave as a 

result of retirement. The value of the gift is calculated on a formula 

based on years of service and monthly base rate (with a pre-

determined cap) and is subject to tax. The method of accounting 

and frequency of valuation are similar to those under the defined 

benefit schemes. The actuarial valuation to determine the liability 

is performed annually.

PRoVISIonS
provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable 

that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 

obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation 

can be made.

provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures 

expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 

of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase 

in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest 

expense.

provisions are made for wide area progressive jackpots which 

includes the base jackpot as well as the incremental jackpot. The full 

provision is expected to be utilised within the next financial year.

Restructuring provisions comprise of the employee termination 

benefits.

SHaRe CaPItal
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Redeemable preference 

shares which carry a non-discretionary dividend obligation, are 

classified as liabilities (see accounting policy for borrowings). 

external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, 

other than in a business combination, are shown as a deduction 

from the proceeds, net of income taxes, in equity. 

Where any Group company purchases the company’s equity 

share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid including 

any directly attributable incremental costs apart from brokerage 

fees (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable 

to the company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled, 

re-issued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently 

sold or re-issued, any consideration received, net of any attributable 

incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, 

is included in equity attributable to the company’s equity holders.

ReVenue ReCoGnItIon
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received 

or receivable from the sale of goods and services in the ordinary 

course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is recognised when it is 

probable that the economic benefits associated with a transaction 

will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue, and associated 

costs incurred or to be incurred can be measured reliably. 

Revenue includes net gaming win, hotel, entertainment and 

restaurant revenues, other fees, rental income and the invoiced 

value of goods and services sold less returns and allowances. 

Value Added Tax (VAT) and other taxes levied on casino winnings 

are included in revenue and treated as overhead expenses as 

these are borne by the Group and not by its customers. VAT on 

all other revenue transactions is considered to be a tax collected 

as an agent on behalf of the revenue authorities and is excluded 

from revenue. 
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Customer loyalty points are provided against revenue when 

points are earned. The reward points are recognised as a 

separately identifiable component of the initial sale transaction, 

by allocating the fair value of the consideration received 

between the award points and the other components of the sale 

such that the award points are initially recognised as deferred 

income at their fair value. Revenue from the reward points is 

recognised when the points are redeemed. 

The Company revenue also comprises dividend income which is 

recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

DIVIDenD DIStRIButIonS
Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are 

recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statements 

in the period in which the dividends are declared.

SeGMental RePoRtInG
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages 

in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 

expenses, whose results are reviewed by the executive decision 

makers to allocate resources and to assess its performance. 

Operating segments are reported in the manner consistent with 

the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 

maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible 

for allocating resources and assessing the performance of the 

operating segments, has been identified as the executive board 

of directors.

Segment results include revenue and expenses directly attributable 

to a segment. Segment results are determined before any 

adjustment for minority interest. Segment assets and liabilities 

comprise those operating assets and liabilities that are directly 

attributable to the segment. Capital expenditure represents the 

total costs incurred during the period to acquire segment assets. 

CRItICal aCCountInG eStIMateS anD 
JuDGeMentS
estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 

based on historical experience and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances. 

a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the 

future. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The 

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

aSSet uSeFul lIVeS anD ReSIDual ValueS

property, plant and equipment are depreciated over its useful life 

taking into account residual values where appropriate. The actual 

useful lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually 

and may vary depending on a number of factors. In re–assessing 

asset useful lives, factors such as technological innovation, 

product life cycles and maintenance programmes are taken into 

account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as 

future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and 

projected disposal values. The Group has not made any material 

adjustments to the useful lives and residual values in the past.

IMPaIRMent oF aSSetS

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are 

considered for impairment if there is a reason to believe that 

impairment may be necessary. Factors taken into consideration 

in reaching such a decision include the economic viability of the 

asset itself and where it is a component of a larger economic 

unit, the viability of that unit itself.

Future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets are 

projected, taking into account market conditions and the 

expected useful lives of the assets. The present value of these 

cash flows, determined using an appropriate discount rate, is 

compared to the current net asset value and, if lower, the assets 

are impaired to the present value. If the information to project 

future cash flows is not available or could not be reliably 

established, management uses the best alternative information 

available to estimate a possible impairment.

PoSt RetIReMent BeneFItS, lonG SeRVICe aWaRD 
anD FaReWell GIFtS

The present value of the post retirement benefit, long service 

award and farewell gifts obligations depends on a number of 

factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a 

number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining 

the net cost (income) for post retirement benefits, long service 

award and farewell gifts include the discount rate. Any 

changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount 

of post retirement benefits, long service award and farewell 

gifts obligations.

Refer to note 22 for details.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end 

of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to 

determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows 

expected to be required to settle the post-retirement benefit 

obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the 

Group considers the interest rates of government bonds that are 

denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid 

and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the 

related post-retirement benefits, long service award and farewell 

gifts obligations.

Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part 

on current market conditions. Additional information is disclosed 

in note 15.

ValuatIon oF DeRIVatIVeS anD otHeR 
FInanCIal InStRuMentS

The valuation of derivatives and financial instruments is based 

on the market conditions at the statement of financial position 

date. The value of the instruments fluctuates on a daily basis and 

the actual amounts realised may differ materially from their 

value at the statement of financial position date.

eStIMateD IMPaIRMent oF GooDWIll

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any 
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impairment. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units 

have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These 

calculations require the use of estimates (note 12).

b)  Critical judgements in applying the entity’s 
accounting policies

PenSIon FunD aSSet 

Management needed to assess whether or not the Group had 

an unconditional right to a refund in respect of the surplus from 

the pension plan. A legal interpretation was obtained which 

indicated that the Group does not have an unconditional right 

to the full refund of the surplus.

aCCountInG PolICY DeVeloPMentS
Accounting policy developments include new standards issued, 

amendments to standards, and interpretations issued on current 

standards. These developments resulted in the first time adoption 

of new and revised standards which require additional disclosures. 

Standards, amendments and interpretations 
effective in 2014

The following amendments became effective in 2014 but had 

no impact on the Group:

•	 IFRS 1 – First-time adoption if International Financial Reporting 

Standards
•	 Amendment to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – 

Asset and Liability offsetting
•	 IFRS 11 – Joint arrangements
•	 IAS 27 (revised 2011) – Separate financial statements
•	 Amendments to IFRS 1 First time adoption on government 

loans
•	 IAS 28 (revised 2011) – Investments in associates and joint 

ventures
•	 IFRIC 20 Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface 

mine
•	  The Annual Improvements 2009 – 2011 Cycle which included 

amendments to the following statndards:

 –  IFRS 1 – First-time adoption if International Financial 

Reporting Standards

 –  IAS 1 – presentation of financial statements

 –  IAS 16 – property, plant and equipment

 –  IAS 32 – Financial instruments: presentation

 –  IAS 34 – Interim financial reporting

The following amendments became effective in 2014 and have 

been adopted by the Group:

Amendments to IAS 19, “Employee benefits” 
(revised 2011)

The changes on the Group’s accounting policies has been as 

follows: to immediately recognise all past service costs; and to 

replace interest cost and expected return on plan assets with a 

net interest amount that is calculated by applying the discount 

rate to the net defined benefit liability (asset). See notes 15 and 

22 for the impact on the financial statements.

IFRS 10 – Consolidated financial statements

This standard builds on existing principles by identifying the 

concept of control as the determining factor in whether an 

entity should be included within the consolidated financial 

statements. The standard provides additional guidance to assist 

in determining control where this is difficult to assess.

IFRS 12 – Disclosures of interests in other entities

This standard includes the disclosure requirements for all forms 

of interests in other entities, including joint arrangements, 

associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet 

vehicles. This statement also requires disclosure requirements for 

subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (see note 27).

IFRS 13 – Fair value measurement

This standard aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity 

by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single source 

of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for 

use across IFRSs. The requirements, which are largely aligned 

between IFRSs and US GAAp, do not extend the use of fair value 

accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied 

where its use is already required or permitted by other standards 

within IFRSs or US GAAp.

Standards and amendments issued but not 
effective in 2014

The Group has evaluated the effect of all new standards, 

amendments and interpretations that have been issued but 

which are not yet effective. Management is currently considering 

the effect of these standards, amendments and interpretations 

although it is not expected that these will have a significant 

impact on the Group’s results and disclosures. The applicability 

dates shown indicate when the standard is applicable for annual 

periods beginning on or after the particular date. An application 

date of 1 January 2014 will affect the Group’s results for the 

financial year ending 30 June 2015.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements (applicable 1 January 2014)

The amendment provides and exception to the principle that all 

subsidiaries must be consolidated. entities meeting the definition 

of ‘Investment entities’ must account for investments in 

subsidiaries at fair value under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments or 

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial instruments: 
Presentation (applicable 1 January 2014)

The amendments require entities to disclose the gross amounts 

subject to rights of set off, amounts set off in accordance with 

the accounting standards followed and the related net credit 

exposure.

Amendments to IAS 36, “Impairment of assets” 
on the recoverable amount disclosures for 
non-financial assets (applicable 1 January 2014)

This amendment removed certain disclosures of the recoverable 

amount of CGUs which had been included in IAS 36 by the issue 

of IFRS 13.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (applicable 
1 January 2018)

The IASB have tentatively decided to set the effective date to be 

1 January 2018. The amendment confirms the importance of 

allowing entities to apply the requirements of all the phases of 

the project to replace IAS 39 at the same time. This IFRS is part 

of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement in three phases. phase 1 relates 

to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. 

IFRS 9 addresses classification and measurement of financial 

assets and replaces the multiple classification and measurement 

models in IAS 39 with a single model that has only two 

classification categories: amortised cost and fair value. For 

financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 

requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair 

value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair 

value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in 

other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, 

unless this creates an accounting mismatch. phase 2 dealing 

with Impairment methodology is still outstanding and phase 3 

dealing with Hedge accounting has been completed.

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 
(applicable 1 January 2016)

The amendments add new guidance on how to account for the 

acquisition of an interest in a joint operation that constitutes a 

business which specify the appropriate accounting treatment for 

such acquisitions.

Amendments to IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests 
in other entities (applicable 1 January 2014)

Requires new disclosures for investment entities (as defined in 

IFRS 10).

IFRIC 21 Levies (applicable 1 January 2014)

The interpretation sets out the accounting for an obligation to 

pay a levy that is not income tax. It addresses what the 

obligating event is that gives rise to pay a levy and when a 

liability should be recognised.

Amendments to IAS 39 Financial instruments: 
recognition and measurement (applicable 
1 January 2014)

The amendment relates to derivatives and hedge accounting 

and is applicable 1 January 2014.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts from Customers 
(applicable 1 January 2017)

A new standard that require companies to recognise revenue to 

depict the transfer of goods or services to customers, that 

reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be 

entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new 

standard will also result in enhanced disclosures about revenue, 

provide guidance for transactions that were not previously 

addressed comprehensively and improve guidance for multiple-

element arrangements.

The standard below will not impact the Group:

IFRS 14 Regulatory deferral accounts (applicable 
1 January 2016)

Applies to first-time adopters and permits them to continue to 

recognise amounts related to its rate regulation activities in 

accordance with their previous GAAp requirements.

Annual Improvements Project

Improvements to IFRSs to make non-urgent but necessary 

amendments to IFRS are issued in cycles as part of the ‘annual 

improvements process’. The 2009 – 2011 cycle is applicable to 

the current year as discussed above. The 2010 – 2012 cycle as 

well as the 2011 – 2013 cycle are not yet applicable. Management 

do not foresee any major adjustments from these amendments 

which affect the following standards: 

•	 IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 

Standards (applicable 1 July 2014).
•	 Amendments to the Basis of Conclusion clarify the meaning of 

“effective IFRSs”.
•	 IFRS 2 Share-based payment (applicable 1 July 2014).
•	 Amendments added the definitions of performance conditions 

and service conditions and amended the definitions of vesting 

conditions and market conditions.
•	 IFRS 3 Business Combinations (applicable 1 July 2014).
•	 Amendments to the measurement requirements for all 

contingent consideration assets and liabilities including those 

accounted for under IFRS 9 as well as amendments to the 

scope paragraph for the formation of a joint arrangement.
•	 IFRS 8 Operating Segments (applicable 1 July 2014).
•	 Amendments to some disclosure requirements regarding the 

judgements made by management in applying the aggregation 

criteria, as well as those to certain reconciliations.
•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (applicable 1 July 2014).
•	 Amendments to the measurement requirements for all contingent 

consideration assets and liabilities included under IFRS 9.
•	 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (applicable 1 July 2014).
•	 The amendments clarify the measurement requirements for 

short-term receivables and payables and clarifies the portfolio 

exception.
•	 IAS 16 property, plant and equipment and IAS 38 Intangible 

assets.
•	 Amendments to the Revaluation method and the proportionate 

restatement of accumulated depreciation/amortisation 

(applicable 1 July 2014).
•	 Amendment to clarify the basis for the calculation of 

depreciation/amortisation as being the expected pattern of 

consumption of the future economic benefits of an asset 

(applicable 1 January 2016).
•	 IAS 24 Related party Disclosures (applicable 1 July 2014).
•	 Amendments to the definitions and disclosure requirements 

for key management personnel.
•	 IAS 40 Investment property (applicable 1 July 2014).
•	 The amendment clarifies the interrelationship between IFRS 3 

and IAS 40 when classifying property as investment property 

or owner-occupied property.

Management is still currently considering whether any of these 

changes have an effect.
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